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(Ajury was empaneled and sworn. The Court admonished

the jury in accordance with Section 415 of the Code of Crimih&l

Procedure, and took a recess until two fifteen p.m.)
. AFTER RECESS. |
(Mr. Weil opened the case for the People.) 7‘iF o
MR, FIRESTONE: At this time, if your Honor please, I
desire to save as much time as we ocan, and for that purpose
I will admit that the articles in question, so far as this
defendant is concerned, aré the property of Dent, Allcroft &
Company, of 85 Fifth Avenue, and that the value of the
property is as stated in the indictment, and that the errand

boy, whoever the District Attorney says he was, placed the

property on the post office box at 16th Street and Union
Square, in the County of New York on the date mentioned
in the indictment, and that the other defendant, Lafrano,
took thepackage from the box, and that it is the same package
that was deﬁosited there; So that will save ybﬁ calling
all those wifnesaes, and we will get down to the meat of the
case.

MR, WEIL: That is very good. Then we will not have
to call witnesses to prove what property was left there,
and by whom, and the ownership of the property, all those
preliminaries.

MR, FIRESTONE: No, you will not have to prove all

that, We concede everything, except that the defendant had

any connection with the alleged theft,
THE COURT: Very well, then, That is conceded.
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THE PEOPLE'S TESTIMONY. :

WILLIAM H HARLESTON, of 8 East 131lst Street,
a witness called on behalf of the People, being duly

sworn, testified as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. WEIL: i ‘ N o
Q Mr, Harleston, are you a married man? A I am, eir,
Q And do you livg with your family? A Yes, sir,
Q Where? A 8 past 13lst Street,
Q How long have ydu lived there? A I have lived there
for two years and three months, | o

Q pave you a family? A Yes. I lease the house there,

~Q Then it is a private house? A Yes,sir,
Q Now, were you employed on the 18th day of December, 1917?
A Yes,sir,

Q@ By whom were you employed? A By Rice & Hockster, 87

< =

Fifth Avenue.

R o what capacity were you employed by that firm? A
" Shipping clerk, | :

Q And how long have you been in their employ? A A yesar and
three months,

Q And before that wh-re were you Amployod? A bn the
Deleware & Hudson Railroad, as a porter,

Q A"d now long were you in their employ? A Three years,

Q And where were you employed prior to that time? A Prior
to that I was valet for Mr, C., Oliver Isclim, of Premium Point,

for seventeen years,
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-Q Now, do you remombe} the 18th day of December, 1217%

A Yes, sir,

‘Q Did you deliver two packages for your firm to the

post box at Union Square and 16th Street on that day? A Yes.
Q When did you take the packages to the box? A About

5:18. |

Q What 4id you noti&e about the box when you visited it,
13 Anything? A There was a large package on the top of the
box; and another long package protruding from the box.

And I put the two packages that I had in my hand under
my arm (indicating the left arm) and I pulled out the protruding
packagey and put my two packages in the box, and then pﬁt the
other package back in -- it couldn't go in, but I put it back ih
as I found it. ‘

Q You could pull it out, but you coudln't put it in; is that

the idea? A Yes,
. Q Now, did you see the defendant at ahyf time that aftgrnoon?
A Yes,sir, |

Q@ When did you first observe‘him? A As I turned away from
the box, he was standing near the box.

Q Washe alone, or with any other person? A He was with

another young man, ' |

Q And where were they when you saw‘them at that time? A Thoy;;

weére standing just over near the edge of the curb, .
Q. How far away from the post box? »

MR, FIRESTONE: I object to that as leading, if your

honor please.
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MR, WEIL: No, I am sure that is not leading.

MR, FIRESTONE: Let him state what he saw,

THE COTRT: I think the guestions were all properly put.

Objection overruled,
VR. FIRESTONE: I respectfully except,

BY MR, WEIL:

Q How far were they away from the box? A They were about
five or six feet from the box.

Q@ Facing in what direction? A Facing west.

Q Well, with respect to the post box, the package box, how
were they facing? A Facing very near in front of it.

Q Were they facing towards it or away from it? A Towards
it.

Q Now, what directed yoﬁr special gttentiog to these two
men at that time? A As I had turnéd away from the bax, after

putting these paokageshin, these men looked at me in arather

suspicioue way.

YR, FIRESTONE: I object tothat, and move to strike it out.
THE COURT: 1 sustain the objection. B8trike it out, |
BY THE COURT:
Q You saw them looking at you, did you? A Yes,sir,
Q And what happened then? A VWell, it was rather perculiar,
the way they looked at me,
 ¥R. FIRESTONE: I object.
THE COURT: No, Strike that out,

BY THE WURT:
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Q What happened then? A I went across the street to

wait.

BY MR, WEIL:

from
A And how far would you say that was from the box,/the post

box? A Well, it is the width of Broadway, from one side of the
street to the other, . |
Q Well, could you see these two men clearly, when you
reache ' the oppoéite side of the street? A Yes,sir,
Q was there any light there? A Yes,sir, .
Q What kind of 1ight? A An arch light, right on the cormer,
Q How near to the post box? A There is a m;il box right
under the arch Iight, and in the corner, about seven or eight
feet from the arch light was the post box,

Q And was that light 1it at that time? A ves, sir, And I
stood there possibly three or four minutes, ; o
Q Did you have this defendant and the other man under

observation all the tihe? A Yes,sir;-all the time,
MR, FIRESTONE: I move to strike that out, if your
" honor please, whwther he had them under obeservation all

the time or not, That is a question for the jury to

determine, whether he did or not, pe can say what he did,
and in what directions he was going, and where he was 1ooking;lf
THE COURT: Yes, that may be striken out.

BY THE. COURT:

Q You were looking towards them, were you? A Yes, eir,

Q And did you t ake your eyes away from them at all? A Vo.



BY MR, VEIL!
Q What did you see this defendant and the other dsfendant

do? A They both went to the box,

Q Together? A Yes, And one of them, that defendant,

(indicating the defendant) he tried to take thie package out,

or put it in,

Q Which manf‘ A This defendant here. He pushed it back
- and forward, that package that I had found piotruding from the boi.fi
He wasn't successful in gctting.it in. pHe got it out, but couldn't‘
get it 1n.. And for two‘minutes, possibly, they did theat, ﬁnd the
other defendant went and took thepackage , fho large package, from
the top of the box, the large package that was on the top of the |
box.

IR, WEiL: That is the package considered io'be theq;
property mentioned in the indictment?

)R. FIRESTONE: Yes, there is no question about that.
BY MR, WEIL: | ‘

Q Now, go on, What happened next? A The other man took the |

package and he walked down Union Square, I'm across the street, lé
run across the street, and was right behind them, | d

Q How far hehind them were you at that time? A Poocibly.ahbé
ten feet; no further than that,  eir,

Q Did you have them in sight? A All the timo.-

Qe What did they do? A The man that took the p#akago he
carried it for possibly a block; and handed it to this man,

(indicating the defendant),
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Q In what direction were they going? A Going south,
Q on what street? A On Union Square, When they got to 1l4th

Btreet, I still had them under observation,

- Q Now, please, just a moment. You say that the other man

carried the package for about a block? A Yes, sir,

Q. And, after carrying it for a block, what did he do with 1t?
A e gave it tb the other man,

| Q Which man? A This man (indicating the defendant)

Q This defendant? A Yes, sir, '

Q Go on. And that was about 15th Strest and Union Square;
was 1it? A Yes, sir; and he carried it to 1l4th Street.

Q Who did? ‘A This man, (indioa.ting the defendany.)

Q This defendant? A Yes,sir, Andhe handed it bak to the
other man, Wé had then got to 14th Street and Brdadway,-and
there was a traffic officer theré and I said to him --

Q Fo, You dannot tell that, You are not permitted to say
what you said, in the absence of the defendant. You spoke to him,

did you? A Yes,sir,

G A" the traffic officer continued to take care of his duti.j
there? A Yes,sir, |
Q And then what_didyou de? & X follode thenm to 13th Stre
and University Place,
Q Who had the package then, 2t that point? Do you recall
which one had it?7 A The other man had the package.
Q Where did they go then? A Then they turned through

northeast
13th Btreet. There was an officer standing at tho?oornor of
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13th Street and University place -- yes, on the northeast corner--
and I went over and spoke to him, and I said, -~

No, :
Q /You can't tell that, And then what did the officer and

you do? A We went to 13th Street, west, and between Fifth Avenue
and University Place, we came upon these two defendants -- these

two men having the package, and the officer arrested them,

Q WVas any conversation had between you and either of those .
defendants, or between the officer and the defendants? A No, sir;
I said nothing to them, and the officer said to them that he was

going %o arrest them,
Q And what did they say? A And the defendant there said,
"What for"? And he says, "You'll find out when you get to the

station house."

Q And what did the other défendant say? A He said nothing

at all,

7 Q Now, where was the package atAthat time? A It‘was in th;u
hands of the other defendant, 4
Q And do you know where that package is now? A In the
Police Department,rl presume,

YR. FIRESTONE: How does he know?

MR, WEIL: I asked him if he knew,
Q Well, who took the package at that time? A The polioomuﬂ%
< i t : : 8

took the package.

(. How large was the package, Mr., Harleston? A Aboutthat

high and about that wide. (illustrating) It was six packaces

tied together,
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MR. FIRESTONE: Have you got the package here, Mr.
Weil?

VR, WEIL: I don't know whether it is here or not. You

conceded the package, who it belonged to, etc., and I think the

Jury will understand as to that package,

Q Did you do anything after that? A I went to the police
station with the officer, and the two men,
Q And what became of the defendanys? A They were held,
MR, FIRESTONE: I object to that and move to strike that
out, | _ . ‘
THE COURT: Motion granted. Strike it ouf.
Q Was there any conversations between thedefendants»and the
officei,,of yourself and the defendants at the station house?
A NWNo,sir,
Q Did you subsequently go to the Magistrates' Court? A Yes,
Q AnDd did you testify there? A Vo, sir, The examinatlon>
was waived,
- CROSS EXAHINATION BY MR.‘FIRﬁSTONE:
Q Mr, Harleston, ie it? A Yes,
MR, "EIL: Oh, pardon me, just a moment,
BY MR, WEIL?

Q Did you ever know either of these two men before?t A No,

8ir; never sesn them,

Q And did you have any relationship, any business ralationahup;

with the firm that owned these goods? A No, sir; none at all.

Q Do you know them? A - No, sir,
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BY THE COURT:
Q Now, did you see this package after these men were placed

under arrest? A Yes,sir,

Q And package was it? A It was thepackage that was taken

off the mail box.

Q The package that you say that you put on theﬁuil box? gL |
A No, sir; I put mytwo packages in the box, This package that
1 speak of ias on the mail boz when I got there. ‘ il

BY MR. FIRESTONE:

Q At the time that the defendant were arrested that package
wae.taken possession of by the police? A Yes, sir,

Q A"d, when you went to the police station, the package was
left at the police‘station? A Yes, sir;

MR, SIRESTONE: Haﬁe you the package here, Mr, Weil?

MR, WEIL: Why, the policeman is sick, if your Honor
please ,and I have just asked our pocess served to make an .

affidavit that the officer is sick in the hospital, the

officer that made the arrest,
MR, FIRESTONE: Well, I think that the officer should be '
produced as to the conversation at the time of the arrest. I |
think it is very important,
YR. WEIL: Well, the conversation has been given by the @i
witness on the stand, and it couldnot p#aeibly hurt you.
It is as favorable as it could be to you. This man, your E

he
client,/says, asked fhe officer, "What are we arrested for?"

R, FIRESTONE: Very well, then.
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Q Now, your duty as shippin; clerk for your firm, is to
deliver paﬁkagol, or put them on the mail box? A Yes,oir; I

deliver them to errand boys, who take them out for delivery,

usually,

Q And on the 18th of December you put the mail packages on

the mail box? A Yes, _J
Q Where is this box? A Corner of 18th Street and Union

Square, It is around the corner, a few feet from the corner of

S Tl o v N

'19th Strest and Union Sguare,- and I work only one door from the °
corner of 15th Stre=t and 5th Avenue. '

Q Let me understand this? You are employed at 87 Fifth AVvenue
and that is 2 large office building, or business building, is it
nott A Yes,sir, | '

Q And this place at 16th Street and Union Square, how far

awaj from the place where you are employed, is it? A As 1
have before said, it is -- I amone dcor from the mrner of 16th
Street on 5th Avenue, and this ie on the corner of Union Square,
only cne block, - ‘ .

Q Well, it is a block away from where you are employed?

A Yes,sir,
Q 1 am trying to fix just where this place is in my oin-nlnﬂt;;
A Thie ie on the corner of 16th Street and Union Square, ard I |
am one doo: from the ecorner of Fifth Avenue and 16th Street.
Q That ie, facing the park where the battleship is? A lo.;;
The battleship is down at l4th Street, but it is in ihe sare |
park, | h

Q VWell, en what corner is the box? A It ie on the north-
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west corner,
Q There ies a bank there, is there not? A Yes, the Bank

of the letropolis, and the box is right on the corner by the bank,

Q There is a sort of a -~ A BSomething 1like an alcove

there,

Q And that box ie in the alcove? A No, eir; not in the alcove
It is on the side. I pass there ragularly every day. Ity‘on the
elde of the bank, not in the alcove, because the box couldn't fit
in the alcove, because the box is square.

Q Well, the bc is about twenty inches by‘twenty-four inches;
ien't it, and about three feet Jigh? A Well, éomething liko that,
Ircouldn't tell you the exact méaeuremente because I don't know, 7 |

Q Well, isn't it a fact that the box stands up against
that alcove? A No, sir; it doesn't, .

Q Well, where does it stand? A It stands against the rail

that rrotects the bank from the sidewalk, It hitches right'to the
rail, rhere is an i:on railing there, |
QG wmwhere is an iron railing there? A Ybs,sir. | »

Q And then it ie away from the bank building proper,_tho
box; is it? A Well, if you call the rail not connected with fh.
bank building.

'Q Well, you know what a building 1s? You know that it is
a structure, do you not? A Yes,
Q A% the railing 1eénot & building; is it? A Undoubtedly

not, sir,

Q And ie the box away from the building iteelf? A vy,,
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Q@ About how many feet? A Poeeibly about two feet.

Q And in what direction from the corner of 18th Street and

Fiftr Avenue -- no, Union Square, -~ ies the box? Towards uptown,
\
or is it towards the downtown? A The entrance of the banK?
Q No. The box I am speaking about. Where was it situated?

A 7phe box was situated just like this table is situated.

(Indicating the Stenographer'e table.) _

Q ﬁow, lets take the cornmer of his Honor's benoh,(indicatilg)
and téll us whether it was imrediately at the corner, or within
three or four feet? A The box was dtuated just about as near as'I)
can guess, about a foot back from the entramce to the bank, on the
side street. ‘ |

Q On the side street? A Yes, The box is on 16th Strect,
very near the corner. | ' |

Q Oh, the ﬁox is not on Union Square, thén? A rThe béx is on»
16th Street. = ' | |

Q Near the corner of Union Square? A Ybs, near the corner

of Union Square, |
Q 8o that, in order to put your mail in there, you don't h"‘?
tc go clear to the corner of Union Square? A No, not directly to ﬁé
corner, because the corner would be where the arch light would be._%
Q 7T don't mean the corner of the street, but the corner of 5

the building, Did you have to go to the corner of the building,

or didn't you reach the cornerof the building when you put.youg

boxes in? A It's right at the corner of the building, the box.
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I'm pretty sure it's right on the corner of the building.,

Q@ Then it isn't on 16th Street, but on the corner of 16th

Street and Union Square? A Well, I didn't make a diagram of it,
but it's there, : . . R

Q I know ite thefe. For how many years did you go there?
A I don't go there regularly to put no péckages in there, but I |
pass there,

Q Well,»ydu have been there at least half a dozen times a
ménth? A Oh, yes,

Q And more than that? A Yes, I pass there every day.
Q So that you know just where it is; don't you? A Well, I

can't say that I pay so much attention to it, to tell you

whether it is riéht up to the corner, or one or two feet from the
corner,
Q Tell us the fact is that youd didn't pay pérticul;r atten—A E
tion? That's so, isn't it? A I paid pai;icuiar‘attention to -~
Q 1 am talking about the situation of the box, where it is?
MR, WEIL: 1f your Honor please, I think the witness
had tcld us as accurately as poesibie where the box is
situated, and I think that fhie(cnoss examination 1§ now
‘usless, and only wastés time, because I think the jury now
understand perfectly the situation of the box,
BY MR, FIRESTONE: :

Q (Repeated?)

THE COURT: Well, he saye it ie on 16th Street, at the
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corner of Union Square, but whether it ies plumb up to the

buildinépine, on Union Square, he is not sure, He says it may

be a foot or two from the corner, on 16th Street.
MR. FIRESTONE: Very well, your Honmor, I will go on,

Q When you open the box, does it open towards 16th Street,

or Union Square? A Towards 18th Street,
Q S0 that it is on the side of thebank Building? A Yes,
Q Not in front of it? A No, it isn't in front of the bank,
Q Now,when you came with your parcels, you came along
16th Street from Fifth Avenue? A Yes, on the north side,
Q On the north side of the street? A Yeé, on the ndrth gide.
Q On the north side of the street? A Yéé,sir.
Q And, when you came to the box there were parc&ll on the
box? A No, sir; nct parcels; only'one.pércel oéyhe box, and

another one protruding from the box,

Q Protruding from the openeing of the box? A yes,sir, J
or endeavor ; %
Q Did you untake/tc put that parcel in? A No, sir; I pulled

it out, and put my packages in.

Q What did you do with it when you tcok it cut? A What did .

I do with 1t?

Q Yes, A I held it in my hand,

gr: i km&e Bl e

Q And you held how many parcels in your hand? A I had my
two parcels under my arn (indicating the left arm,) They were

rather emall packages,

R T

And I held thepackage that I pullee out in my hmcl.(1ndi<:stmg)}i

It was a esmall package as to it'e bulk, but it was quite

long,

-
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Q But you said it was protruding out, and you pulled it out?

A vyes,sir,

Q And then it was too large to put in the box? A I don't

know about that. But I pulled it out, and‘put in my two p&ckagou,
and put it back just as T found it.

Q@ Now, you put the package back again rn‘tﬁe box? A vYee --
no, 8ir; I didn't put it back in the box, becauseit wouldn't go
in. It was a long package.

Q That is, over two feet? A 1 don't know the exact length |
of it, I can't tell you that, but I know it was long, and wouldn't
go into the box. 7

Q And after that, after you inserted your packages, anq put
in this package that you»have described, where did you go?

-

A Where did I go?

Q ves, A I turned towards Union Square, turned my faoe ‘
towards}Union Squére;

Q Juet a minute: You-turned towards Union Square? A Yes,

Q And where did you intend to go? A I intended to go houme,
of couree, |

Q Bo that you were on yoﬁr way héme? A I were.

Q You had inserted these packages, and you turned qouth;
in a southerly direction, didn't you? A No, sir; I didn't
turn south; I did not, ;

Q Well, in what direction did you turn then? A 1I turn;d

east, I was still going east,

Q Well, you didn't turn into Union Square, did yout A I
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muet have, 71 did.

'Q Union Square at that point, -~ the street there is
known az Union Square, ien't it? A 71 don't know about thaf.
Q Where déjou live? A 8 wpast 13lst Street,
Q And you were going to the subway, weren't you? A Yes,
I were.
Q You were going to take the subway at 14th Street, weron't.
you? A Yes, 1 was,
Q Thank you, Then you didn't turn anywheres, You simply
continued acress? A 7T said, I kept going on east.
Q@ Then you didn't turn? A When I faced the box, I had to
‘turn to go east azain, I must have®turned arcund.
| Q . Well, you didn't turn around; did you? A 'Yes I_did.-VI
must have,
Q Well, I don't care about that. Letts go on. A Well,
you muet care about it, when you ask the question.. |
Q Well, I only want the facte here? A And that's what I am
here to tell you,
Q You continued on your way home? A Yes,
Q And how many people were on the street at that time? A I
couldn't tell you, sir,
Q When wae it? A Between five and five tﬁiryy. |
Q VWell, in that immediate neighborhcodjwould you say. there

were at least 150 pecple? A I don't know., I couldn't tell

you,

Q People were going out from their shops and places of
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business, and going home ? A Undoubtedly.
Q And at that particular point quite a few people go home

at night, don't they? A Yes, from all sections,

Q Yes, going to the subway station? A Yes.

Q Coming from Fifth Avenue, and University Place and
Sixth Avenue, and all crossing over those streets lround_thefc,
isn't that a fact? A You_are aware of that fact, aren't you, sir.

MR, WEIL: Now, don't argue with counsel. Just answer

hsi qﬁeetione,
BY MR, FIRESTONE:
Q (Question rereated?)A Well, I didn't pay any particular
at%ention as to what other people were doing.
Q Ien't it a fact thgf the :rbwda come fromadl thSQ utroetl,

at that time of the night; isn’t that so? A I preaumé they do,

Q Don't you know it? Yes or no.

THE WITNESS: Ybur Honor is that guestion relevent?
THE COURT: Well, you are Juﬁt asked if a cr;ld of peoplo,;
were going home at that time. Answer the counsel's queltioh.
THE WITNESE: Yes, they were going home,
BY MR, FIRESTONE:
And you ﬁere going home? A Undoubtedly,
Q How far had you gone before you turned around? A When I
got on the other side of the street.
Q Iﬁon you got on the other sideof the street? A Yol, sir,

Q Do you mean on the eide where the park is? A Yes, sir,

Q And that is a dietance of 80 feet at that point, isn't it?
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A 1 couldn't tell you how far it was.

Q Dontt you know that it is} A No, 8ir; I don't know, I

have never measured it,

Q@ You know diétancee, don't you? Can you 4iscribe how far
1% 19 in this Court room, and see wha&her we can get it that way?

A It takes in the car tracks, and it is the distance from one side

of Union Square to the other side, to the park side.
Q You crossed the tracké, and went over to the other eide‘of
the street, to the park side? A Yes, sir, |
_ Q And you went on to the side-walk where the park is? A Yes.
BY VR. WEIL: |
Q You didn't go into the park, did you? A No, sir,
MR, FIRESTONE: pr,_please, Mr. Weil. You will get an opportunity
Q And there were a number of people coming from all difectionl:

north and south and east and west? A I said there were before.

A
b

Then you say you”;nrned around at that point? A 7 did.

Q You didn't go into thé rark? A No, I didn's.

Q And you whom at the box? A Whom did I see at tha b x?
Q ?es. A T saw both of these defendante, this man and the
other man at the bex, both of them,

Q You saw this man -~ stand up Schafman == 'you are sufe you
saw this man at that mail box at that time? A Yes, I do} I'mAlure
of it.

Q And what was he doing? A pge was trying -- he 'aa'foolilg
with the package that was in there, |

Q What wae he doing? A pge was shoving it back and forth,.

-~
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Q worying to push it in? ?

MR, WEIL: I object to that. He has very clearly

described just what he was doing.

THE COURT: Well, did he appear to be trying to push

it in? You may put the question in that form.

MR. FIRESTONE: Yes, sir; I will accept your Homor's -
admended question,
(The Court,e question is repeated by the stenographei.)
A Yes., He appeared to be trying to push it in,
Q But he couldn't get it in?
MR, WEIL: I object to that as not being within the
knowledge of this witﬁeas. How could hg tell? ‘
THE COURT; Sus=tained.
. MR. FIRESTONE: I respectfully exceft.
Q Did he succeed in pushing it in? A No, he didn't susethi
in pushing it in.
~ Q And he was about two or three minutes in doing that?
A Possibly that much time., It waen't longer, I'm sure of that,

,.-.._1

Q And, during all this time, these people were coming and go-

ing? A Yes, pecple were passing.

RN AR T RS

Q And then, what did you next see? A I eaw the other man
that was with him, take the large package from on top of the»boi.
WR. FIRESTONE: Now, I move to strike that out, if your

Honor please , "That was with him."

B s ey

THE COURT: Mction denied.

MR, FIRESTONE: I respectfully except.
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Q@ You say the other man that was there? A I say the

other man that was with him, because they were both there,

standing together, and talking to each other, previous to my

putting the package in the box. They were standing near together;
when I put the pﬁckage in the box; within about. five feet froﬁ th‘
box.
Q Now, stand up and show us just how they were atanding?

A The béx was eitﬁ&tad like this, (illustrating). The Front of
the box is here. When I opened the box, the large package was
sticking out, and I put my two packages undei my'arm.(indiéating~
under the left arm, and tock out this package that was profruding,
and put in my packagee, and then stuck the package I had'takén'duf
in, and pushed it in as far as I could.

I took this long package out of the box first, and put it under

this arm. (indicating the 1€'ft arm), and took this other hnd;

and held it then -- now I want to be correct and truthfull about .
that. These two packages were about thie‘sizé,(iiluatrating) and
I go to this box, and I pﬁll it down, and put the other‘packﬁgeo
here (indicatins under the left arm), and held my.packages ﬁnder
my arm, and then put my packages in, and then held the cther |
package, the long rackage until I put them in, and then the

package I had taken out, I shoved in again,

BY THE COURT:
( And where were these two men standing, do you say? A About'i
five or six feet frow the box, halfway across the sidewalk, near

the box.
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BY MR, FORESTONE:

Q Will you stand up? Now, place your left hand in the
position‘you were atanding at that time, with the two p&ckdgec?
A Thie way I was standing. (illustrating)

Q Now, place those two booke on the stencgrapher's table,
lying there on the table, under your left arm? A Yes,eir.
(The‘witneaa does 80)

Q Now, with which hand did you open thebox when you firet‘
arrived there?

wn. WEIL: I obiect to that, as already answered, and
as immaterial,irrelevent and incompetent.
THE COURT: I will allow it,
Now, go on. A I took thepackage --

.rbl

No. Whichhand dia you use? A My left hand I think, im
'bulling the box down,
And with fhe right hand, you extracted the package thas
was.there? A ﬁes, eir, ’ - |
Q Am I right? A Yee,sir,

Q@ And your next step was to do what? A Was to take the
packages from under my 1e§; arm, and put them in the box
(11luetrating.)

. Q With your right hand? A I held this package --
Now, don't go to fast., It is very 1mport&?t here.
) m

MR, WEIL: And I‘eubmit it ie abeolutoly/natdrial,

a8 to what hand he used in putting the package back in the
box.
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THE COURT: Well, counsel seems to think it is
important or material, and I will allow it,

BY MR, FIRESTONE:

Q@ What hand did you hold the box open with, the right or
left? A With the left hand, |

@ And you extracted the packuge‘that was in ther with your
~right hand, didn't you? A Theee two packages wefe under here
(indicating the left arm), and I pulled the box down, and took the

package out; and put my two packages in,

o Well, you took the package out with your right hand?

A. Whether I used theleft or right hand I don't know. I didn't
pay any a*tention to that., But I know I put it back. |
Q AAd all the time you were facing this box? A Yes.
Q Is that correct? A Yes,
Q After you inserted your packages, and you reinserted
the other package, you turnel and walked across the street?
A Yoo, 1 turﬁed this way,(illustrating) and walked aciosa'tho
street (illustrating.)
Q Now, don't be in & rush, Take your time. A I*m not inm
a rush no more than you are, |
You didn't see either of these two men when youvinaerted ¢
your packages, did.you? A Why, yes, I saw them standing there,
before I inserted my packageé.
Q You saw them before you inserted the packagci? A Un-

doubtedly, yves.

Q But they were not near the box then, at that time?
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Q They didn't try to push that bundle in at any time,

did they? A No, eir; they were standing about five feet

from the bvox.

@ Just as you have shown the jury the distance? A Yes, sir,

N

Q And_people were coming and going along that street? A Yeo.i
Q Quite a few, going in every direction, weren't they? A i - %
Yes, pecple were going and coming. | ‘ |
Q You went over to that box, and your intention was to

place those packages in thebox? A My intention was what 1 did,

My intention was to put ther there, and I did.
Q@ And then you turned and walked across the street, and -

you say that at that time you noticed those two men standing there?

A Yes, and I saw those two men while I was walking down the street,

down 1€th Street, I saw them standing there, as I was coming
down the stréet. ‘
Q And &0 you remember every man that stands on Q&orner, do
you?
(Objected to; sustained, Exception. )
Q And then you crossed ovér from the weet gideto the
east side of the street? A  Yes,siry.
Q Any street care running therc? A vyes, there were street
cars runningthere,
And are there automobiles zoing paat'thereT A Yes,
And you were looking up and won the street, to see thaf

nothing ram gnto you, while you were walking across the otroet;fi
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you were looking in both directions to see that no car or
automobile ran into you?*
A VWell, thatAwould;:nly natural for one to do,
THE COURT: No, just answer the question.
THE WITNESS: I was,
BY MR. FIRESTONE:

Q VWhen you reached the_bther sideof the street, you say

you turned around? A 1I.d4id,
Q And you saw this defendant,whop you are positive you
saw standing ther: before, trying to push in thepackage? A Yes -
Q And then you saw the other man take the package from
off the top? A From off the top of the box, yes.
It waan;t your package?. A Nb, 8ir; it wasn't my package.p ‘
Q  And, after he took the package, did he ramain standing thor&."
or did he walk away? A They walked away. | |
Q 'Now, did he.walk in a northerly or éoutherly direcfion?
A In a southerly direc*ioh.
. Q On the west side of the strest? A Yes, sir,

Q And you, at & that time, was on the east side of the

etreet? A Yes, sir,

Q And during all that time, cars and automobiles and persons

were going in all directions, at that hour of the night ? A Yel; E

pecple were passing,
Q And they walked south how far” A They walkei south to
13th Street.

Q You followed? A I did,
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Q On what side of the street? A On the same side
that they were. I ran across and followed on the same
sids of the‘atrcet that they were.
Q Now, letes see. After tiey left the box and turned
around, you saw them going in a southerly direction, aﬁd you came
acroaéz A Not striaght across, but diagonally across the street.
Q Oh, you came diagonally across the street? A Yes, sir,
Q Towards 15th Stre=t? A Yes. i

Q From 16th Street and Union Square, on the east side of the

street, *o the west side of the same strest, at 15th Street?

-

A Yes., Between 16th and 15th Streczt., I go% on the opposite
side of the strest where they were.
Q You know that that street is wider at 15th Street than
at 16th Street? A Yes, but I kep those men under my obeervation'
all the time.
Q Now, just answer my question, please, TYou walked over to
where they were or some distance from where they were? A uYea,
Q@ How far behind ihem did you reach at 15th Street? A NoOt
quite half a bleok behind thenm, '
Q Now quite half a blook? A Yes,
(@ How many persons were there between you and this defend&nfi
A 1 couldn't tell you that,
Q Were there twenty-five? A  couldn't say, seir.
Q Were there fifty? A AI couldn‘t'say, qir.
Q A hundred? A I couldn't say,pir.

Q Would you say that there were none? A 1 would not, no,
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Q And most of the people at that point walked in the same

direction, or were they walkinz in ewery direction? A Yes, in

every direction, north and south and east and west.

Q@ And you followed -~ y ur eyes followed this package?
A Yes, and the two men that had thepackage.
Q And you walked with them how far? A  I walked up to
13th Street. |
Q And what? A University place,
Q Had you‘stopped any place before you reached University
Place and 13th Street? A 1 did. | : T
Q Where did you stop? A Iratopped at 14th Street and !

University place --

" Q Before or after this defendantas you claim -- these tio‘ ;
‘young man that you are talking about e crossed 14th Strect?
A Yes, I was very nearvbehind them. They didn'tlook aroﬁnd.

Q Well, was that before they had ocrossed 14th Street dr
after? A Yes, they had gotten on the other side of 1l4th Street;
Q- On the southerly side of 14th Street? A Yes,sir,

Q mhey didn'f stop? A No,
¢ They continued to walk? A Yes,
Q But you stopped and talked to the traffic officer, as
you stated? A Yes,
Q Where was that traffic officer? A In the middle of the
streest,
Q In the midile of 14th Street? A Yes,

Q@ And in the midile of University Place? A Yes, right in
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the middle of the street,

Q Not in the middle, but in the center do you mean? A Yes,

‘in the center, as you say, |

Q@ And when you saw the officer there, did you walk from gho -% :
rorherly side of 14th Street to where the officer waas? A When
I was at the northwest corner of 14th Street, theofficer was
in the middle of the street, and I crossed over to him,

And you went there for & purpose, undoubtsdly? A Un-

doubtedly I did.

Q These men didn't stop? A No, sir; they didn't atop;

Q Then,when you wen? over tolthe officer you had something to
say to him? A Yes, I spoke to him.

~

Q And that took about a minute or a minute and a half? A

About a minute.

Q  You then turned around and followed these men again?
A Followed in the direction that they had gone.

Q Were they in your sight then? A Yes, they were in ny aightﬁ

but they were at 13th Street.

Q You were at l14th Street and Unidn.Square? A Yea,eir; in
the middle of the street.

Q And the men that saw were at 13thk8treet and University
Place? A Yes, sir, '
| Q - At the timé? A Yes,sir,

Q Andvthere were a nurber of pecple on that strest? A Yes,

eir, But they had the package, and I saw that, and kept that in

view,
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Q You saw the package, did you? A Yes, and those
two men, s
Q And where did they z¢? A They turned w;at down 13th
Street,
‘ QG Did tﬂey stop before they turned? A No. rhey went
right around the corner, ‘

Q And at the time that you were at 14th Street, and turned
around and spoke to the officer, they were at 13th Street; is
that correc¢t? A Very near the corner of 13th Streest.

Q And you started to follow again? A yes. 71 ran.

Q In -ihe midile of the street? X No, on the sidewalk,

Q On the sidewalk? A Yes,sir,

Q No one in your way? A Oh, yes, people were in my way,
but I ran just the same.

G You ran in and out amongst the people? A Yes,sir,

Q And they had turned on through 13th Stree<? A Yée.

Q And went towards Fifth Avenue? A Yep.

Q And when iid you n2xt see them? A ;722w them in the
middile of the block, between University Place and Fifth Avenue,
when I had the officer with me,

Q Now, when you turned the corner of University Place and
13th Street, did you see them? A .Did I see them?

Q Yes, A No, sir; I didn't;not them,

Q Ycu ran after them then? A No, I didn't run

after them then.

Q  You didn't see them? A You asked me if I ran after them.
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No, I didn't run after them,

Q Where did you pick up this cop? A On the northeast

corner of 13th Stre%t and University Place,

Q@ And you told the officer your story? A vyes, but I
didn't finish my story. I said there was a or me oommitted, and
I wanted to detect it, and he followed me, and in running, I

told hfm the story.,

Q And, when you arrived at the middle of the block, was it,

or further down the block -- A- About-the_middle of the bloek,

I think it was,

Q Now, was it nearer Fifth Avenue?. A VWell, I couldn't say
that. The offiser knows the number of the house where he
. arrested the defendants, in front of the house.

Q It's a long biock is it not? A Yes.

9, Were. they hear Fifth Avenue, when "you arrived  there?
A Vell, they were nearer to Fifth Avenue, than they were to
University Place, |

Q Now, who had the package in his hands at that time?
This man? A No, he didn't, It was the other man.

Q 7the other man? A Yes,

And were they both together, walking together? A Yes,

walking along together,

Q On what side of the street? A On the north side of the

street,

Q Walking towards Fifth Avenud? A VWalking towards Fifth

Avenue.
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Q They didn't stop while you saw them? A They didn't

8top while I asaw them?

- Q Yes, A VWhere?
Q Anywhere on the way? A NWo,

Q@ They kept on walking? A Oh, yes. They kept walking.

1 And when the o ficer and you got up to the two men, you ‘
said, ;There they are"? A "1 did. | | | ‘

Q And theofficer placed his hand on vhat man? A pge placed
his hand on both men,

Q Didn't he place his hand on the man with the bundle? A pge
placed his hand on both men, because I said, "There they are.‘

Q Didn't he place his hand on the man with the bundle? A I
answered your question, sir,

7 (Repeated?) A He placed his hand on both men. ne

grabbed both men, _ : ; g §

Q ATre you sure 6f that? A I've answered your quoution,'oir:f

Q Are you certain of it, sir? Did he grab both men at the |

same time? A T said he grabbed both men,. .
Q At the sane time?

'R, WEIL: I object to that if your Honor please. He

has answerzdthat question &tlleaat four times,

THE COURT: Then I will let him answer it again,

Q At the same time? A pe grabbed both men, and in doing m&f
another officer ran up in the meantime, and he turned one man ovogél
to the,éther officer, and they both went to the station house Iitﬁei

the two men.
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Q Now, who was the other officer? A ¢ don't know, sir.

Q . S0 that there were two officers at that point, at the

point of arrest? A Yes. One came up shBrtly after the first
one had *aken hold of both men,

Q@ You didn't say in your direct éxaﬁination that there
were two officers, d4id you? A No. 7 didh't think it was
necessary.

Q Vell, now were there two of one? A I said therq were

two officers. One wae from the 168th and the other from the 33rd.

Q And which one of the two did the talking? A The one from

the 16th,

Q@ Do you knowhis name? A fficer Booth,

_Wh&t did he say?, A He told the same story that I told.
MR, FIRESTONE: I move to strike that oﬁt.
THE CDURT: Yes. Strike it out.
Q What aid he say? A I can't remember what he said, what
Of “icer Booth said, I know he made the arreet; but I can't
rerember all that he said,
Q Why, was there a whole lot of talk there? A Why, there w
a conversation betwesn he and the lieutenant at the desk.

Q I'ﬁ talking about the time of the arrest, in the street,

¢ Nothing at all? A Only he wanted to know what he was
arrested for.
2 The defendant here, asked the of 'icer, "What are you arrest

ing me for?® A Yes, he did,
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Q Did the other defendant ask any questions? A I
don't know whether he drd‘or‘not. |

2 Now, you know don't you?

VR, WEIL: I object to that, to the form of the
uestion. | |

2+~ Don't you knéi?

K. 0Oy 1 don't.know.

Q Didn't you, on direct examination, say that the other man
.didn't ask any questions? A The stenégrapher will tell you
whether I =aid it or hot, I don't remember, .

@ You don't refmember what ybu said on direct examination?
;> I know that I am telling the trath in this caaa.’

Q I'm not aeking you that, sir? A Well, then, I can't
remember everything, sir.

QR I'm talking about ydur direct examination, while you
were exaﬁined by the District Attorney, a few minutes ago,
didn't you say that the ofhar man didn't ask any questions?

A 1 don't remember whether I said that or not.
Well, did he ask any questions or not? I don't remember

whether he did or not.

Q Is it not a fact that this defendant, when the officer,

after he had arrested the other man, after he had put his hand on 4

the other man, placed his hand on him, (indicating the defendant),

and .he said to the officer,"What do you want me for"? A He put
his hand on both of the men, I said.

Q But d4id he at that time say, "What do you #ant me for?*
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or, "Wha* am I arrested for?" A Yes, he spoke and asked

wﬁ@t he was arrested for.

'Q And the officer said what? A I don't remember

exactly what the officer said.

Q Did he say anything? A 71 don't remember whether he
’did or not. |

Q@ You then went with the officer or the two officers --
were there two officers there at-that time? A Yes,sir.

Q And with this'defendant and the other man to the station

house? A Yes,sir,

Q Did they say anything at the station house? A No, they

© didn't say anything, to the best of my knowledge, I don't think so.

Q And you didn't say anything at the station house? A Oh;
yes, certainly; I told exactly what I saw,
| Q You,made:a statement there? A Yes,

'Q Did you say at the station house that you wererover at-thoi
park, looking at these people, and saw the other man take thé
package?

YR, WEIL: Now, just a moment. I object to that as
immaterial,jrrdevent and incompetent, and, further, upon
the ground that this same question with respect at the
station hoﬁse wae ruled out upon the objection of my friohd, {
on the direot‘examination.' |

THE COURT: Objection overruled,

A 71 think I eaid that. I don't remeumber ju-t what I said

there.
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“.

Q And didn't you say there when'they asked you, "How about

this man?" Didn't you say, "I think he was the other man"?

A 1 didn't say anything of the kind.
‘ Q Are you sure of that? A . Yes,

Q Did you say at the atation house -- withdrawn. Now, you
told us in detail just what you saw as you followed along, in
reply to my questions as *o just what you did; didn't you? A Did
I reply to your question as to what I did?

| I say, in detail, you described what you did, and ihat.
they did; 4id you? A I think I replied to'your questigns, s8ir,

Q Now, then just when did you see the defendant take the

package from the other man? A Between 15th and 1l4th Stre-ts.

Q Between 15th and 14th Stre=ts? A Yes,

Q@ You saw this defendant take the package from the other
man? A Yes, and carry it.

Q And carry it? A Yes,sir,

Q You are sure of that; are you? A I said, so, sir. |

Q 1 didn't ask you what you said; I'mésking you whether thst'g‘
is the fact. |

(Objection susta:ned, Exceptionl)

Q You didn't lose sight of the two men during the time thatff

€
you croseed over from the eat side of University place, -- or rather

the =ast side of Untion Squarepark -- to 15th Stre=t; did you?
A VNo, sir,
0 Not for & minute? A No, eir; I didn't lose sight 4f them,

y8n't it a fact that the only thing that you sawwas the
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package, and that you saw men going along with the package?

A ¢ saw those two men having the package. ¢ didn't lose sight
of them,
You never lost =ight of the two men? A No,sir; 1 didn't.
Q At noftime ,exoept when they turned into 13th Street?

A No, sir; I didn't lose sight of them,

C

You never saw this defendant before in your life? A No,
eir; never have,
Q Until that day? A Never have.

Andi at that hour was it lizht, the same as it is now, or . {
was it dark on that day? A It was dark, but there were a iot of_ﬂ ;§
lighte, arch lighte, around there,

Q The arch lights are half a biook apért from each—qther;

right there, =ren't they? A It was light enough for me to

keep them under observation.

(Repeated?) A I couldn'® tell you, I don't know,
Q on the east side, or mather, on-the west side of Union

Square, isn't it a fact that thelights on the one side of thé street|

Q+ And you could te'l the faces of all the peresons who wre u
that crowd? Could you tell the faces of these two men lmonget'
the persona who wepe in that crowd at that time, from the faot
that you had seen them from across the street, at the box?

MR. "EIL: I object to that question as not bdbeing

proper ' in form, in that it calls for a fact not in ovidence.
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The question would make it appear that the firet

time the witnees observed the two men was when he was

across the street from the mall box, whereas the fact in

his case is that he saw them forthe first time before he

reached the post box, as he was coming down 16th Stre=t,
MR, FIRESTONE: All right thﬁn. E
Q@ From the time you said you turned around, and they were somoﬂ
feet behind you, from thdt observation, and séeing them from
across the street, do‘you say that you could see these men and
known them, while they were walking in the orowd on Union Square?
MR. WEIL: I object to the question as to what he could
do. The question should be what he did do. I object to the
~queetion as to its form, and ite calling for the operation
'fufhe wifnésa's.
THE COURT: Objection overruled,
BY P, FIRESTONE:
(Repeated?) A Yes, I knew then I knew them from —--
Now, answer it y=s or no? A VYes,sir; I knew them.
RE DTRECT EXA&INATION BY R, WEIL:
Mow, Mr, Holeston, were the two men who were arrested om
13th Street,thaf night, this defendant and the other man were they 1
the two men that you firét saw at the post box at 16th Street

and University Place? A Yes, sir, .

(; +othe same two men? A Yes, 8ir,
Is there any queztion in your mind at all abou-t that?

A No, eir; none at all.
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Q And, as matter of fact, one of these men, was the man you

saw take the package from the'post box? A Yes, sir,

And the same package that you saw taken from the post
box by somebody, was found in thé possession of one man, and the “;!;;;"
jefendant was"Wwith him at the time?

MR, FIRESTONE: I object to that., He has described what
he says occurred there.
VR, WEIL: T withdraw the question,
Q When_these twb defendant were 3rrestéd, were they arréstod
together? A Yes, sir,

Q What were the relativeposition of the two mwn, when.arrestu%

Q How far apart were they? A Knocking arms together, as
one would say, walking close to each other, |
They were touching arms you mean? A Yes, sir, They-wgro
walking as close as possible to =sach other,
MR, “ﬁIL: Now, step down and ;11ustrate whét.you.man.
THE WITNESS: They wére walking this way, (111uatra¢ing)
as close as possible to ea&xqther. _And-the&ther'man had the
package in hie hand. ;
Now, you wefe asked én croes examimation what you said f%

B L
S

‘o the defendants in the =tation house, and you were not permittqﬁﬁ

subsequently, by the counsel, to complete your answer -- with-

Arawn, Please tell me what you 4id say to the defendants when

you reached the station house?
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MR, FIREST'NE: I object to that. The witness has

testified to what he said.

MR, WEIL: WNo, if your Honor plsase, Mr, Firestone brought

»

“hat out on cross examination.

i

VR. FIRESTONE: Oh, I will withdraw the objection, go

on,

BY MR. WEIL: | L
Q (Repeated?). What did you say to him? A I said to them
-that I saw the men £bgether etanding at the mail box, and saw
this-manAput the package in Qnd tgke it out, push it in, and pul}
it out, and the other man take the big packgge from the top of the‘

box, and they walked towards l4th Street with it, together, | 4

~ Q Did you say anything else? ,A 1 don't remember now, L : |
Q Well, on cross examination, Mr. Firestone asked the. | i
witness, asked you, if'you didh't say, if you didn't expresé some

doubt as to the identity of this defendant in the s‘ation house.

Did you express any doubt there? A No, sir; I didn‘t express

|
-
|
4

any doubt whatever,

- Q From the time that you firet saw the defendant and the ottlfv
man at the post box, until they walked away, withvthe package, &id%?p
you sec anyone else approach that boxt A No, sir,

Q And you had the post box in your view all the time, didn't ;M
you, until they walked away from it? A Yes, except the'tiye that
was walking across the street to the park side of Union Square,

ag I said before.
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ANDREW K NELL, of 571 ©th Avenue, & witness called:
on behalf of the witness, being duly sworn, testified

as follows:

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, WEIL:

Q@ Mr, Knell,what is your bueinebs?

MR. FIRESTONE: What do you want to show by the witness?

Perhape I will admit it,

MR, WEIL: peé ie a process server, and I want to show
that he tried to.serveithe officer, and found that he was

sick, .

MR. FIRESTONE: I will concede that.

MR. WEIL: Then I take it that it is conceded on the
recbrd that the arreeting officer, is on sick leavé, and that
an effort was made to produce him at this trial?

MR. FIRESTGNE: Yes, I will concede that, that yoﬁ made
an effort to %erve_him,'and fouﬁd that he was sick.

YR, WEIL: Then the People reet. That is the People's

case. 5

YR, FIRESTONE: Now, for the purposes of the record, wil;é

- you admit that the defendant Lafranc ies the person mentioned %é
by thé witnees on the stand? Now be fair with me,
MR, WEIL: Now, prlease, Mr, Firestone, tell me what yonvﬁé

vant, Without any coumrents, i
MR, FIRESTONE: Will you admit that Lafrano is the man

the witness referred to on tho}gtand?

MR, WEIL: Yee, if you will admit that he is a co-
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defendant in this case.

MR, FIRESTONE: Just a second., And willyou also

admit that he is in the Tombs, and pleaded guilty to petit

lareeny?

MR, VEIL: You have made the statement, and I don't
contradict it. That is all you want as to that?

MR, FIRESTONE: No, I want you to show why you didn't
produce him, He ii?your custody.

MR, WEIL: He is not in my custody at all. You‘ban
subpoena him and bfing him here as well ae I can.

MR, FIRESTONE: I ask the District Attorney, if your
Honor please if he wiil comcede on the record in this case
that Lafranc, the other person indicted in this cauo,_is in
the Tombs Prison, having pleaded guilty to petit larceny, and
that he hasn't becn sentenced yet. | '

MR, WtIL: Yes, I will concede that,

THE COURT: It is conceded?

MR,,WEIL: Yes, sir; with pleasure.

MR, FIRESTNONE: Now, I move your Honmor to dismiss this
case, on the ground that the People have failed to‘mako
out a ~ase, beyond a reasonable doubt,

THE COURT: It is a question of fact for the jury.
Motion denied, |

MR.'FIRESTONE: I reopectfully excort.‘ Now, day I ask

your Honor to adjcurn thie case until tomorrow? I told
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your Honor the condition in which I came into this case,

without preparing it, Will your Honor allow me time until

tomorroﬁ morning to prepare it and get'the necessary witneoses.

THE COURT: Very well.

(The Court admonished the jury in accordance with Section
415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, and adjourned the further
trial of the case to Friday morning, January llth, 1918, at

eleven o'clock, )




. % i
TRIAL RESUMED:
New York, January 1llth, Li;l._‘
YILLIAN H. 2 HARLESTO N, being rocalled by she
District Attorney, testified as followe: |

YR. FIRESTONE: Your Honor, I don't know why oOr where=
fore, byt the witness that we have have been told to remain

outside.

THE COURT: It is my usual rule. 111 witnesses are

| what
exoluded, all witnesses on both sides, so that/ons witnees

saye may not be heard by another, and that we may have, there=

fore, as far as possible, unbiassed testimony, And then,

‘when a witness has testiflied, my usual praoctice is to keep tlc‘"
witnees in the room, 8o that he will not go oﬁt. and report :
what he has eaid, Now, that is the unua;»rulo,.bﬁt tt.tsoro %
is any reassiwhy you want your witnesses in hori, let no.knoisrf
¥R. FIRESTONE:No.Only that I never knew that to be the
rule, unl@sn the witnesses were excluded onAtho motion of
both sides,
THE COURT: 'No. It is my usual rule and applies to ;
every case,
NR. FIRESTONE: Very well. I only wanted to kncv.the
reaﬁon why . ?
-THE COURT: And the reason why it is done is the reason
of common sense,
MR, WEIL: ¥ith your Honor's permission, xiwtli\rtonll

this witness t0 ask him two questions. “




¥R. FIRESTONE: Only two questions?
¥R, YEIL: Yesn .

MR. FIRESTONE! Very good.

THE COURT: Very well.
DIRECT EXAKINATION BY WR. VEIL:
Q Vhen you firet observed the defendant and the other man

at the corner of 16th Btreet and Union Square, did you see their

fages? A 1 414, sir.

Q Anq were the two men that were subsequenfly arrested the
eame two men whoee fagee you l@u at 16th Street and University
Place? A They were, sir. |

¥R, WEIL: That is all.
UROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. FIRESTORE:

Q@ Your testimony that you give now is the same that you gave

yesterday; 1e it not?
(Objected to. Sustained.) .

Q You didn't see them in any different way thnﬁ you have
teotified yeasterday, did you? . A Didn't see the}mon any dife
forent?

Q Yes. No more than you t0ld us 2bout yesterday?

(Ovjeoted to., Sustained.)

THE COURT: It 1-»ah argumentative question.

MR. WEIL: That is the People's case.

¥R, FIRESTONE: Now I will heve to remew my motion %o
diemiss the indictment, on the ground_ths{ the People have

reopened the case, on the ground that they have failed to
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prove a oase,
THE COURT: |Motion denied.
¥R. FIRESTONE: I respectfully exoept. | i
- |




THF DEFENSE: o

CHARLES D. BIEBER, of 580 West 161et Strees,

‘& witness called on behalf of the defenee, being duly sworm,

teatified as follows: e
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY VR. FIRESTONE:

Q Mr. Bleber, what ie your business? A llnu!abturor of
leather goodes, and jewelry and novelties.

C Now, will you please speak up a0 tbaa‘tbo last juror oan
hear you? A I'll try to.

Q And what s the firm name? A Wolf & Bieber Nanufacturing
Company . | | . i 0
;Q Yhere is your place of bueineess? A 58 East 13th liroct.l

Q That 12 on 13th Street, between what othsr streetst

A Broadway and University Placge.

Q And on vhat side of the street le 1t? A The 80nth itda.

D

- Do you know the defendant Schafman?! A I do.
G How long have you known him? A Appraximately ten years.

0 Has he ever done any businees with your firm? A He did.

= 3 ‘»X'i; 2
etk i Ao i e 15

'Q What businées did he do with yar f&rn.'ftrotl- A Iloota.Aﬁ
plating of metal ornaments, | |

Q At that time with what conoern wae hi‘aonnootodt A An
electro plating company, but.thcre is one word miseing that 1
goan't resember, One name.

Q Was it the French Eleotro Plasing Company? A Yes,

S And how long -~ had he been comtn& to your place of busin
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during that time? A Yes, eir. He has been up there several

tines,

Q A5 lately was he at your plage of dusiness? 2 He was,

with hie wife.

= . —

N About five or six weske ago? A Yes,
Q About what time of day, do you‘rocall. it was? A In the
~afternoon. |
: Q‘ Late in the afternoon? A TWell, tatween bhe,Aoura of thrt‘

and five, I believe.

Q And on that oocasion.dli be remain long? A Avous ten
minutes, ‘ ,

C Ead then de HAIRE & Tae. Be 1etes

Q HNow, do you know other people that know him? 4 I do,

Q@ Do you inow his reputation amongst the people that know
him? A 1 adv0. |

Q Is 1% good or bad? A It is good.
‘CROSS EXAMINATION BY ¥R, WEIL:

Q Nr, Bieber, what day of the sonthwas 1t, if you;roénll.
tha; thie defeniant wae in your plage of busineas? N | cantt _-,:

.,

regall the date. T ; ?g

Q ¥Yhat day of the week was 187 A I oﬁuldn't state juet non.§
Q Was 1%t in the month of December? A It was. ’ E
Q How do you know that? A 1 couldn'; offer any proof,
ﬁut thies being only a few days after New Yeare, I doﬁvt DOLiOv."'?u
was in this year,

Q@ Are you rvelated to the defendant? A 1 am ned,
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Q By marriage or indirectly? A FNot in any way. -

Q When 414 you firet meet him? , About ten years agoe, in

& business way,

Q@ In & business way?! . Yes.

Q. ‘How often havyou seen hi- during the last year? A Three
timeos,

Q Three ti-n during the last year?! , Yep.

Q .And when were the three timee that you saw him? A The
firet time I met htﬁx -~ at least one of thnj ‘il.l“" I met him
on Broadway and 36th Street, between 36th and 37th Streets.

Q Did you meet accidentally?! A Yes, sir.

Q Did yoﬁ greet him and then paes by?! A No, we spoke,

Q@ And the next time?! A He ou@evup witﬁ his wife, nnd.io
talked business matters over, and he seemed to be interested in
the plating of these articles,

Q When was that?! A Vell, that was & out vtvo or three weeks
B g

Q@ That was the second time? A Yes, sir.

Q "hen was the third time?! A The third time I didm's

meet him, The third time he was up, and I wasn't 4in, #so0 I have

been t0ld that he was there.
Q Who told you fhat he was thero the third time? A He told .:j-:i
me himself. _, : L
Q When dtd he tell ycu that? WYhen you were called as a hes ]
witnees for him? A Fo:

Q@ After he got into trouble? A I didn't know anything
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BY ¥R. VEIL:

lbou‘ the troubls at all.
\

Q Yhen did you firet lcnra ‘that he was in troublol ‘A Today.

€ When 4id he tell you, the third st-o. that he wae up %o

your plage of businees, and ihct you ‘'were notg in? A Today.

Q@ He told you that today?! A Yes.
Q Where? A At my place.

0 He came to your piace of business today?! A Yes, the

defendant did, and -~

Q “And told you that he had been up %o ses you some time

 about two or three wook-ago; and you were not in? A Why, he

didn't tell me he was up. He mentioned casually that he was wp
and I wasn's in. | | |

Q Well, then, you want to charaoterize that nﬁ ioinc “
gasual statement, do you?

THE COURT: I sustain the objeotion.

Q “hen was he up at your place? A About nime o'elock.

This morning? A This morning.

Q :
Q Were you in your place of business at the time? A Ylﬁ,ﬁ .
QO D44 he come up to talk about business to you? , He dida’
mention anything about buy%nsuo, '

Q Well, what did he iiy? A He told'-Q about hise truuhlci,
Q And told you that he was up t0 eee you whent §

MR, FIRESTONE: I objeot to thas.

MR. WEIL: Why, he testified that the ¢0f¢ldll§ was wp

in hie place of business thies morning, and todd his shat



‘he was up there, before, when he was not in.
BY THE OOURf:

Q Now, how long ago was it that you saw the defendant in
your premises? A About two or three weeks ago, whon.ho was up
there with his wife.

BY MR, WEIL:

Q Didn'i you testify that the last time he was up in yohr
place of business was three or four monthe ago?! A I never dtd,

Q And you then lay,thnt he came thoro this morning to see
yout?! A Yes,

Q ’And at that time told jan that he had been up to see you,
later, and you were not-§n3 is that right? A YOI,

Q Did he have any other business there with you, this

Qorning? A No, sir, |
| QC Had he been to see you prior to thie time oh a sogial
c&ll? A DNo, sir,

Q@ On other occasions, he called to see you oﬁ bu-tnljlj'
is that gorreoct? A Yes, sir.

Q Now, you say you have known him for about ten years?

A Yé., sir. '

Q And jou met him for the firet time in a»bnoin-l- way?

A Yes, in business only. I never had any other dealings with
him,

Q You have met his wife?! A Yes, for the firet time.
wAve you visited his home? A No, sir.

O Or has he visited your home! A No, sir.




Q Now, who do you know that knows him? A People that I
have been oomneoted with in a bueime ee way.

Q Give me some of the names. ., S. A. Hartogensis. ‘

Q Vhat business is he in?! , He was in the same business ‘?ﬁk

that I ar in now; 4n fact, we bought his place over, took hie

plagce over. I used to work for the same firm, ?.

Q And you know that he knowe him? A He used to deal nxtif”ﬁ%

-

him,

i N N s

Q Now, di14 you ever discuss this defendant's reputation with

Mr. Hartgeneis? A I had no oocasion for i%.

.
WAV s

Q@ You never had any occasion to discuse 17 ‘A Fo, sir.
0 Now, who else do you know that knowe the defendant?

A Well, his three sons.

R Whoné soha? A MNr, Hartogeneie' three soms,
Q Well, 4id you ever discuss the dof.ndlﬁt!c repuation tct &
honesty with the three sons of Mr, Hartq ensis? A I nevbr did. ,“
9 Whe else do you know that knows ﬁho defendant? A thpiwgbg
Q@ B0 that, as matter of fact, you have never discussed the .
defendant's reputation for honesty with any porlonj have you?
A 1 4id not.
REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. FIRESTONE:
Q When you say that you have never dloouiood it, you have :
‘ .
never had ocomsion to discuss 1it, especially for honesty, but 4in 5
general talks, you have talked with the people about whether he

ie » good, decent man or not, haven't you?!
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YR, "EIL: I objeot to that as immaterial, trro;ovnq!
and incompetent, and upon the further ground, if your
Honor please, tna§ it is leading. ’
. THE COURT: Well, it 1s not in the correct form;
I sustain the objection, |
BY MR. FIRESTONE! |
Q You atated th#s you have not dilousiod his honesty, and
have had no occgcasion to disouss is. Did you talk in a general
way about his character?
(Objected to. Overruled.)
A As I nbntiéned before, I never had occasion %o talk about
him in that reespect. | |
Q Well, in a general way did you talk ubont‘itt A vell,
we knew he was a very industrious man, and ambitioue.
| KR, WHAIL: I object -to that, if your Eonolf plo_;qo, and
move %0 -trikh out the ansvwe,r as not responsive,
THE COURT: Strike it out. It is not responsive.
BY WR. FIRESTONE: |
& You personally delivered 2 did business with him?
A I aid,
Q And you delivered nerohgndiuo to him for the purpose orv
ﬁavxng work done on that merghandise? A Yes.

Q And do you kﬁow of others that aleo delivered merchandise

%o him?

MR, WEIL: I objeot to that as immaterial, irrelevant




and inoomre tens,
THE COURT: Sustained,

¥R, rIRtSfOIt: I respeotfully except.

Q _ﬂow, thie morning wh.n he came %0 you, did he deliver
anything to you?! A He did nos%.

€ I mean, did he give you any paper? A Yes.

Q ﬁow, ihen you said he delivered nothing, do you -ean.thns e
no merchandise was delivered to you, but he gave you a paper?

A Yes.

S And thai was a subpoenal! ) Yes,
< AndAthit'a what he ocanze there for, to subpoena you?
A Yes, oir.

o Q@ And when he told you that he was in at one time, and you
were mot in, you didn't know at whag partioular time he was there!?
A 1 414 nos,

RECROSS EXAVINATION BY WR. VEIL!
Q@ Now, you say he was there two or three weeks ago?

A Yes, sicx.

S

Q How do you fix the time? A Well, I am almost certain 1%
wasn't this year. This 18 my Tecollection that helps me along.
BY THE COURT:

0 Was it three or four, or two or three vook-?‘ A Two or
three weeks, your Honor.
BY MR, WEIL!

~

Hav: you any ideaof the date? A I have not,
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o Can you‘ttx the date any better than you have already

fixed 187 A I really cannot.

Q And you dén't know what day of the week it was? , lo,l‘t.
"
Q@ Or whether it was before or after Christmas?! A I really
couldn't reooileot. It was of eo0 little importance to me,
C And when did he call at your place? A In the afternoon.
¢ Would you iay 1t was before or after three o'clock? , 1
gouldn't eay. I said between two and fiéo, anyway., ¥ e
G Well, how do wu kmow that?! ’Bioquno it was in the
attornoon.’and I go to lunch at one o'clock and gcome back at two.
Q Do you know whether it was 88 early as two o'clock? A VWell,
I can certainly say it was after two o'olook; |
Arnd you don't know what boome-of him after ho left your
plado? A No, 61:. |
Q And how long wae he there?! A About ten minutes.
Q Alone! A With his wife.
0 Upon that oocasion he was with his wife?! A Yes, sir.
BY VR, FIRESTONE:
0 And on one other ooosnion.'tbad is, on a number of other

ocoasions, he was there with his wife?! A Yes, sir,

BY THE COURT:

©

Hae the defendant dvor sold any goods to you! A He did.
Q@ What 4id he sell youy? A HNerchandise.

@ What merchandiee? A MNetal fobs and oharme. He ohlefly

done the plating.




Q But what goods has he eold you?! A Fobe and charme snd

ewivels and chains, which we handle with fobs.

Q@ Do you do a general jewelry business?! A No, eir, Leather

bracelete and woven chains usually.
Q@ WVell, when was the last time he ever sold you a bill of
goﬁds?~ £ At lesst six or seven years ago.

Q@ Six or seven years ago?! A Yes, -ir.

¢ Nothinﬁ since thent A No, otr;i nothing since thca.

Q Have you seen hln'oinbo? p Yes, I did. .

Q Just once, or often?t A Soveril tlnci.

Q Whers did you see him? A I met him in the etreet snd he

waS up 1n‘my place,

Q What is that? A He was in my place.

Q He was in yoﬁr plage? A Yes, llr.

Q ¥hat was he doing there? A Just gome np. and spoke over
mattere, businesa matterl.

Q Yhat bunlneol matters? A About pla&lng. suggesting that
I should put in a plating plant, to do the plating in my plloc.

Q Did he offer you any goods for sale sthen?! A No, otr.

7 And you say that it wae six'or seven you" a.go tix. you h.‘
your last business tr-n-aotionAwith him? A Approximately,

Q And.hnva you had any business transaction with him since?
A Vo, sir. |

‘pas anybody conneoted with your firm had any, so far as

you know?! A FNo, your Honor,




BY VR, WEIL:

Q@ Do you know a man named LaFrano? A I do nos.

”~

§ Or any name similar to that, or that sounde 1ike thas?

A Fo, sir.
¢ Do you deal in kid gloves?! A No, sir.
G And you never had any at all? A FNever did,
Q You know all atout this man's family, do you not? You in.'
his family relations, 4o you not? A ‘No, I don's.
Q May I have you state again when was the last ti-- you saw '
hlﬁ»at your place of business, pfior to two or three‘uCle ngdt
"Now, what was the time before that? A When I met him, thnﬁ was
on proadway. ; - , gy

Q@ And you met him on the strees? A Yes, sir.

Q And that ias on éroad'uy? A Yes, sir.

Q How long ago was that? A Several néntho ago.

G About three or four monthe ago?! A Yes, sir; about that.

@ And when was the last time that you saw him at your pll;o
of business before that? A Oh, at lotct7a:;.: half or two years
ago, I believe,

BY ¥R. FIRESTONE:

e i, T e o A BRSNS i e i G

Q You t&la the Court that when he came up there on differ-

j

ent ocomsions, he discussed about your putting in a plating
plant? A Yes, sir.
0 Now, 444 he at that time, or during the gonversation,

- suggest that he take oharge of 18t A He suggested to help ne
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along in pusting it in, “

Q He offered to help you along with it, and then take care

-

of 187 A No, to helpmealong in putting it in.

MR. WEILt Yes. The witness didn't say that he

suggested taking oare of it.

¥R. FIRESTONE: That ies all,

MAX SCENEIDER, of 1038 Tiffany Street, Bromx,
A witnees called on behslf of the defense, being duly sworm,
teatified as follows!

' DIRECT EXAMINATION BY WR. FIRESTONE:

Q@ Nr. fchneider, nhere is your place ot“bulxncso?~vg' 30
West 17th Street,

Q And what ie the firm name?! , Schneider Brothers,

0 Speak up louder. A Schneider Brothers.

Q And what is your business?! A UNanufacturers of cloaks
and suits, . , | | | a |

Q And how long have you been at that plao§1 A Since June,
1911,

Q Singe June, 19;11 A Yes.

In the same linet 5 Yes,
Q And the same fikrm?! A Yes.

0 Were you in businese before that 1a'uny other place?

A No, sir. |
¢ Now, do you know Mr. Schafman, the defendant?! A Yes, 1

How long have you known him? 5 For abaut six years.
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other people?! A I beg your pardon?

: gOOd -
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Q@ Do you kmow what his bueiness has been for the last _
five years?! A Yes, oir. ,

Q What was 18T A He has been a sort of a pedler, like,
in norchandil;a He used to come up and buy small bills, on cash
sales, and many timee he used to send me up customers, and ro-
ceive a commisesion for 1%. ’

Q And do you know other people that know himt? 5 Yes, I do.

Q@ #nd have you discussed his reputation ae to character with

Q Have you'talked about whether his character is good or bad |
with other peorle? A Yes, I have.

€& And what ie hie reputation among other people? A Very

Q As to truth and veracity? A Yes, sir.
CROSBS8 EXAMINATION BY HR._iEILL:

Q When wae the last time that yoﬁ saw thie dofcndtns. Nr.
Schneider? A The last time?

Q Yes? A Why, I saw him about the middle of December.

Q The middle of December? AA Yes.

Q@ Where?! A Be was up ai ny place of business.

o At what time?! A Some time in the afternoon,

Was he alone or was anyone with him? A He was alope,
Q@ His wife was not with hisn? A His wife?
Q Yes?! A No, esir.

G And you say it was some time in the afternoon? A Yes.




Q When was the -« was that the last time you saw him?

A That 1e thas?

Q (Question repeated)? A Well, he was aleo up yesterday

afternoon,
you

Q@ Yes. And served/with a lubpoons? A Yes,

Q And 41d he talk to you at that time?! A He simply told
re that he wasin -- that ho was charged with some ouni. and I was
surprised to hear it,

Q Never mind whether you were surprised or not, He told

you that he was ocharged with some orime? , Yes. %

Q Did he tell you what 1t was all about? A Yeas, he told me,

Q And 414 he renind you of the time that'he‘waj there di‘
your place of business? Renind me abont what?

Q@ Did he remind you of the fact that he was at ‘,ur place of ;
businese in the middle of December? , Did he remind me? |

Q VYout A Fo, sir; he didn's,

. Q@ Well, how d§ you recall then that he was up in your place
about the middle of November?! A WOll.'hliia; up t0 buy some
merchandise from me, that ie, if I had anything to clean out, .d"fif
samples or anfthtng. That's what he used to buy from me allvtho ’};
time. . | /

Q Ne. Not all the time.’ I want to know shat he was doing
up there in the middle of December.’
YR, FIRESTONE: I objeot %o that. I’don't think the

Pistriot Astorney should charsgterisze the avidence, or




charaoterise the nature of his visite.

MR. WEIL: ©No, I didn't characterize at 5;1.

THE COURT: The District Attorney is correct in requiring

an answer to his guestion.

BY THE COURT:
Q Fow, did he buy anything on that occasion? j No, eir;

I didn't have anything to sell him,
BY MR. WEIL:
| Q PNever mind why. You didnt't sell him anything, d:d‘yon?
A Fo, sir. '

C And how lon¢ have you known the defendant? A Abopt six
yoarlQ | | |

Q@ A friend of his? A io. sir. _
Did you ever viuitihim in hie me? A No, eir,

Did he ever visit you at your home? A‘ At my home?

O O O

Yes? A VNo, eir.
Q Tlon't repeat the question, please.
¥R: FIRESTONE: Why, I don't think he ie r-pogczaj
unneceesarily. He is a careful witness, I believe, nd
wante to understand the questions.
BY MR: WEIL:
Q Now, give me the names of persons this know the defendant jg
and thas you know; A BSchafman Brothers.
Q Are they relatives of his?! A I don't know.

Q The defendant's name is Schafman, isn't 187 A Yes, the




defendant'es name ie Schafman.

Q@ Where are they in business? J 34 Vest 17th, a few doors

anay from me. 34 West 17th Street. I believe tﬁi@'- the number,
and they are close to nmy phco of bueiness,

Q And you know them very well! A Yes,

Q Who else do you know that knows thd defendant? A Cohen
Brothers, | '

Q Where are they?! \ On 34th Btreet. They also nanufacture
cloale and suits, | .

e 'hix ie the name? A Cohen Brothers, I think it 15;
I am most sure that 1t is. |

0 And 444 you ever discuss the dofendant'qropua‘loator

honesty with any of these people? A Yes, I did; with Schafman

Brothers I did.

Q Vhat w#b the oonditipn --,wh;t»waa the cooqlton.’rlShcr.
for your discussing thies man's fopttation for honeety with these
peoplel A Because the very firet time he came up $0 buy mer=
chandise from me, he referred me to them.

Q To vhom? A To Schdkan Biothurl.

Q And to who else? A And this Cohen Brothers, I boltivo.

Q He referred you to Schafman Brothers and Cohen Brothers?
A Yes, 4

0 And you discussed his repuation at the time? A I ddd;ét AJ
eall up Cohn Brothers, but I called up Schafman Brothers, and o

spoke to Nr. Schafman personally.
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Q And M dn't you know or didn't you find out that they were

relatives of hia?! A V¥o, eir.
€ And werentt you interested in knor ing whether the
reference you were getting came from relatived of the dorondnnt

or not?! A Well, I didn't zo any further, because I knew them

very well,

G Well, but éidn't you inquire whether they wers related to . |
thes ran whe was trying toget credit from yoﬁ? A'rlo. eir; 1 ‘1‘."‘%

Q2 Apd you don't know now wvhether they are related to him? |
A No, sir. ' ‘ | : |

Q@ Who 4id fou speak to in that firm? A Mr. Isidor ﬂ,hlﬁlll.
cne of the firm, 1 reng him wup.

Q What 41d you ask him? A I asked him whether the reference

given by Alfred Schafman ie ali right; whether he Bonght -otyhun-'
dise from him, and wha% he khowe as to his bueineses and all that,
and. he gave me § very good refarshoo. But whonqvor he boughs , |
merchandiae from me, 1t-waan't really any necessity of oqllta‘.np
a refsrence, because he paid gush. | ' |

Q@ Then why did4 you c¢all up any rlforonco. when he p#ld“

cash? A Vell, I just 'tﬂted to know who I am deal ing with.




Q Well, 414 you sver extend him any lire of oredit? A Well,

onoe he owed me about sixty 4dollarse

0 Did you ever extend this man any oredit, and have an entryy

made in your ledger, of the business transaction with him?i I dide "~ .-
Q And will your books show a credit extended to him? A On‘ :
sale sooount.
Q@ (Question repeated) A Yos, it was balanoced up afterwarde.
Q Oan you bring that book down here between now ani two o'elo
A No, I oan't. | ,"
Q@ Why not?! A Begause I had to attend to other Abuuniono-
n Well, if you are required by the Court, oan you?! Are you
qui te sure that you hnvi such a book, and oan produoce it? o
YR, FIRFSTONE: I‘ object to that as immaterial, h"nlwui»_r

=nd incompetent. Thié_ gentleman is not on trial here, Now,

he hasn't fixed the time, and he 1oceen't show whether they

atill h ave 'thou books there now or not,

.P'i THY COonny |
Q When was thie transaction? A That wase, I bon."o, 'ovom
1011, ‘
BY ¥R, WEIL:

Q 19117 A Yu?.

Q Seven years ago?! A ¥o, sir, |

Q B8ix yeasre ago? A It was about six yoars ago. I met My.
Schafman just nhout‘ three monthe after Iwas in business, |

Q@ How 414 you come to meest him? A By him ocoming up for “ﬂ

i

liroh aniise to me.
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Q At that time was he duun# in olbah and suite?d Ae far

ae I new, hewas dealing in all lines.

Q@ What? A (Answer repeated).

0O At that time? A Yes, sir.

Q Did you ever know him to be in any other line of business? ;
A Yo, eir.

0 Did you e ver know him to be in the sleotroplating businees?
A No, sire:
REDIRECT EXAMIFATION BY MR, FIRESTONE:

Q You only knew him about five or six years; 4don't youl

A YB..

Q And what he boupght from you alwaye were samples?A Yos, same

ples.

Q That was ¥eft over after the semeon? A Yes,

BY THE COURT:

-

Q What kind of eamples? A Discards; anything that we gouldn't
sell,

BY MR, FIRFSTONE:
Q In what line of mer&bandiu? A Sult 8 or coats, ladies suite
or conte. | '
BY THF COURR
Q Anything 2lese?A No, sir, that is all we had, i :
Q When was the last time that yﬁu efcr e0ld him saything?
A It wae in the year 19137,
© Wht 414 you sell him then?! A I sold him = few goods, coate,

but I ocan't reoollect just what date,



Q@ Was it in DegcembertA No, eir, not in December,

0 WovembertA I belicve I 4id sell him some in November.
D You helieve you 414T A Yes.

Q What 414 you eell him? A Some few oonts.

Q W"hat were they?! A Fall conte,

Q What were they? A Some sample goode.

Q Well, that is what I want you to tell me, whnt they were.

How rany? A About five of them.
Q About five?! Don't you know how many?Did you conduot the

transaction perdonally? A Yes, air,

Q@ Then, don't you know what you told him? A Y= I do, but I

naver keep traock of just how many coats we ael‘l, bagruse wyhﬁo

eo many customers coming in, and there may de » little 1ot thén.

and we sell them to anyone who comes in f or cash, and I don’f think

it was mores than five coats that I sold him ot the time,

0 How much 411 he pay you for them?A He paid me twelve

40llars a pleoe,

Q rbr wvhattA For one coat, for each coat,

0 What fortA Coats. 7

Q Well, there are all sorts of ocoants. What kind of coats
were they?! A Different stylee of contse They weren't all the
nam9 aty10. There wer -~ probably tio or three 4ifferent styles,
all disoarded oo@tl. ' |

Q Dicoarded coatstA You..that we oouldn't sell to the
regular trade,

O What were they, what materialtA Velours, velours cloth,

L]
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Q What color were they? A What ocoler?

PrEL N

Q Yese A Well, one was Favy, and there ware two blaocks,

ani there was one brown,. I don't remerbder what the other goler

mase It muet have been a green, I puess,

Q You think one of them was green?! A Yes,sir, I never recols

laot fha golors what I s0ld hime That is nretty hard to remember,
your Honmor, ‘ 95 | ' l | |

0 Do you remember how many there werelA Plievooutio

Q Now, you say that there were fivelA Yes, ’u"

Q@ You nre sure of thatl ', Yes, eoir; begause he paid me sixty
40llare cashe I feumbcr that plainlye. ‘ -

'Q Did you ever buy aﬁythtng from him?tp WNo, oirs

Q What 4id he ha;o for sale?Do you know? You say that he

wss in the general péddling businessl A He used to hanile oloaks

and suits, and uhdemar. I believe, ladies url erwear) handker-
chi efe} that is ebout all that I know,

0 Bow 40 you know that? A Beoaﬁno he told me,

0 That i1 what he t0l4 you? A Yes, sir,

© Did you sver buy anything from him? A Wo, oir.'

0 Did you ever see him have any uerohnndiu in hie pos=
s=esion? A No, eir, not when he was up in my places | |

Q Did he ever hawe any samples with him? A He used to ocome

around with a coat, “"“”,“ I never ui him handle any other

1ine, with the exoeptions of what hp told me he 4id,
0 When wase the last time that you eold him before November?

AT think he was ur in the middle of Septembers
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- we made coats, and when the cold weather comes along.

5
And I 8014 him some stuffs ‘ 67
Q Did you do it personally? A Yee,sir.

0 What was 1t? A Some suits, discarded suits, becauss that

was the beginning of the Fall, snd we mde suite firet, and them
whatever sells we keep on the line, ani whatever don't sell we

sell them out, émd get rid of them, and, later on in the fall,

Q And how much wae that t:u’macuon? A It was less than
f ifey ‘dollarl.
0 How much was it?! A Juet 2bout three cuito» it w ase
@ wow much? A Fifteen dollare a pleoe.
Q‘ Cash?A Yee, sir.
Q PForty-five dollar.ﬂl Yés, eir.
Q Now, what was the sale before that?A I can't recolls ot
every eaie, your Honor, unlees I looked it up int he btooks.
0 How many sales did you make?! A Quite a good many. Every t ime
he used to come in, he bought three or fOui or five garmentse.
Q And paid cash? p Yes, eir. _
Q And you.entered that cash sale in the‘bodk.?,A Yés, eir.
0 Under his name? A Vo, aitr‘.v‘l'hero i a sundry acoount which "‘
we keep, and every time we get 2 cash sale, we just put 1{ into tht@._,j
ledger, simply charge it to chsh, and it is coredited to cash. :
Q Have you any book t hat will show any tfansaction wui the
1efendant? A No, eir, with the exgeption of the ¢ ash sale acoount.
‘0 Now, Af there was a cash sale of forty~five do"nur-' in
November, would it appear under there in his name, in the book?

A Yo, #ir, only as cash.
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And, when it 1s turned in, in the sales book, it reads so meny

suits or c onfjs, that is all, It is n sundry nmnt' into which

*very oash sale is entered, beocause, Af ever a person that comee

in nnd buys for cash a single artiole, had an 2coount Openol in his

e g
. 'S

name, it would require too much work, to anter that sale unier the
nare of the person who bought the garment, For ime tance, a gl’tl ,
comes in snd buye a suit for horn;lf as a favor, and 1f we opened
this nogount, we ‘would how e too wany acoounts to keep. They nri
whet we osll transiente.
BY ¥R, WVEIL:

Q But this man was rot a transient customer hers?A Fo, sir.

Q He wns a steady cuiﬁoner?l Yes, ltr.  |

Q You 414 business with him in almost every month of the
y=ar for eix yeare, dil‘!n't'you?l Yep,

Q And you o¢laim that to be a transcient quﬂcnﬂ cortalﬂy
I 40, I c¢an sﬁow you onsh sales acoounts that ocourred when we
firet went intc businecss, lots of tho-; V_ery,nry seldom do we
AVEY == |

Q Then, very well, Now just anewer my question.

¥R, FIRESTONE: I objeot to thie 1ntorr\§pt1<on, Af

your Honor pleaest, I submit that the witness should be al=

lowed to complete his anewer, before another question is

put,

VR, WEIL: I consider my question answereds.
0 Now you sny that the defendant's name 4oemn't appéar

anywhere on your books? A Yege,



; : : y v k.

A 6y

Q Despite the faot that he onéd you at one time @ixty
dollaretA Yes, ol

Q And his neme doesn't appear anywhere as owing you that

monpyTA No, eir, it was only a oash sale.

REDIRECT EYAMINATION BY ¥®, FPERESTONT:

0 How muoh business 40 you 4o during the year? & Adout
on® hundred and twenty=five t:ousand 40llars,.

Q How many coats 4o you sell durins the year, about?

YRe WEIL: I objeat to that as immaterial, irrelevant and

incompetent. »
THE COURT: Overruled. 2 ®
Q About how many? A I gouldn't answer that question,

Q Oive us your rough estimate. In the thousands? A Cer~

tamly .

Q And how many suits 4o you #ell? In the thousands? A Exaots
ly.

0 And you had -«= when you stated to the Court 4iscarded coats,
you iidn't wean that they had been worn and been disoarded? A Oh, "4*;-’:'
no, eir, :

Q You mean that they were 1is gcarded as a number, that you
would not uee that nunber any longer; »nrc not making up nny more
costs 1ike that? A Yes,

D And these ocoats were samples? A Yes, “iecarded samples,

0 And the enme thing with the suits? A Ye...

@ And what he brought there was noS one hundredth part of

one peroent of what you sell; was 187



¥R, "EIL: I object to that, 1f your Honor plenase,
BY TFE COURT:

QDo you know whether it was one hundredth part of one pere

cnt? A Yell, I would hw e to figure it out,

YR, FIRTSTONE: Well, the jury will underetand that I

am only nttnptzng to illustrate the smallness of the A0-

count,
¥R, WEIL: Well, are you going to sum up now?
- BY ¥R, F.IPFSTOIE:
| QAs far as his deal inge were comoerned, you sold him only sAm=
ples, for cash? A Yes, | o8
Q You never had any i'unning nccount with him? A Yo, sire
0 Andon this oooasion when he owed you sixty dollare, you

444n't open any acoount with him for thattA No, sir, he came in nd

paid it in a few A4ays.
BY ¥R, ¥ L3
d Do you know a man named Lafrano? A No, I -don't. And please
don't holler at me.
d I have to, b ecause you don't appear »to 'hqve good heartag,
beoause you repeat my questions?! A Y%, I am pcrfae-tly healthy. .'
Q And what are you doing now? Sparring forw ind, so thﬁt you
must repeat my question? A Wo, of gourse not. |
THF FOREMAN OF THE JURY: Your Homor, there being so
much talk about oash transaotion that don't appear ouﬁh.

booke, the names to whom they were eold, these cloaks amd

coats, I think that I have the wish of my fellow jurore o

with o8, t0 say that we would 1ike to have his books subpoens
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ed here, when '@ saye that he has no hooks shoving oash trane=

sot!ons, I would 1ike to eay that, if I am in order.

THE CCURT: Yes, you are entirely in order., If you wish to

, ®ee hie books, you oan see them. I questioned the witneas, and

o~ it apre ars that his books only show a payment of forty-five

d0llars, but not the name of the defendant.

THE FOREMAV: I know, but I am not satisfied, if your

Honor pleﬁae, with the atatenment that’no namen appeaf on the

booke, as fo»gbode s0ld, for cash, or cash purchases, because

I bolieva}tha& any hoﬁso who do&o a large business, it pfoPorb

ly conduoted, shows the nuub;r and style of the articles sold

for oash, and the name of the ‘buyer, 8o thaf if the purchaser

comes back in a few days, to have any change -cﬁo, or auythlnc

‘of the -ort, his name will app»ar, and the t ransaction vill

sppear on the booka.

BY ¥R, FIRESTONE:

0 Just explain your method or process of deing business?
A '011, he just paye it and it goes into the snles ledgvr‘ﬁs
cash, I don't aoil him regular goods, only diseards,
BY TFF COURT: |

Q ¥o namer appear in your books then? A Just a tew; youf
Honor, ss I told you beforo.

0 Is this defendant's name in your booko?A No, sir, 1

THE COURT: Very well, ¥hen you may bring your oash vhtit g

and ledger, ot two o 'olook, Any ‘other books wanted by the
Jury?

THE FOREMAN: Wo, eir,




VR, FIRFATOFE: Your Honor, juet s moment, while you are |

ﬂ."ing him to brinp, thore books, I will ask him to m‘u‘ .

ever books that will show hie onsh transactione.
THE VITNESS: That 1s the eales book and the salens ledgers =~
& BY MR, FIRPATONE:

Q Whatever books you have that will show s ales, either for

¢nsh or otherwise? A Vory well.

Q w~he foreman wants to know how vou 'cm‘iuct y;m:r busines=, a®
I understand?

THE FOREMAN: No, mo, I am a business man all my
life, and I don't see how anybody oan ocome into oourt, and
testify to that,

TEE CCURT: Well, you have asked the question, Mr.

Foreran, and I have 4ireqted the witness to prodwe his hooks

at two o'olook,

MR, FIRESTONE: Yes,produce your books at two o"olod'.‘_

in sccordance with the Court's order, please,

THFVITNESS: Yes; just two books?

¥R, FIRESTONE: Yes, that is as I understand. Bring

gard to cash sales,

EDYARD FEINER, of 81 Weet 1348h Street, a witness

oalled on behalf of the Defense, heing duly sworn, t-atified
8 rouoiu '

DIRECT EYAMINATION BY MR, FIRESTONE;
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Q My, Feiner, what 1e your tusinees? A I am a Jeweler. i
Q@ Vanufaoturer of Jewelry? A Wo. I buy and sell diamonds
and jewelry,
Q Do you know the defchdant?A I do.

Q Do you know his businees, what his business 187A Well, I o
have known himto be a general salesman.,
4 0@ By that you mean, selling t0 -= 4 Selling merchandise.

Selling me rohandise to Aifferent people? A Yes, sir.

Yhat 1ie oon;nly known as a custom peddler? A Yes.

o D B

And do you know other peOple who know him? A I do.

Q And do you know his general reputation auongot p90p1e that
know him, for hon»uty. truthfulness an4d oharlotor?l I do.

Q In his character good or bad? A Good.

Q You have talked to other people about him, in a general
way, have you not, as to hi= charagter, eto.? A Yes, |

Q And you have heard them e xpress an opinion? A Iéa. ' ] i

Q And that opinion wae good or bad?A.lood.

0 Now, you have 8014 him morﬁhandiso ocoaoionclly, hnv!p"‘
you? 'A I e0ld him a bill of goods between thd 18%h and 33nd of A
November of last yeare. .

Q And you have s01d him at other times?tA Yep,

0 And yousell jewlery and diamonds, and thinge of that
kind?A That ie my buoineaa.

Q And that is what you sold him?A Youe

Q Watohes, et02 A I s0ld him two watohes; a gold watch, the

same day that I eold him a filled watoh; and .I asked him what was
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the 14ea of dDuying two watches at one time, =nd he said that the

ootagon watoh «-- as we call it -~ that I sold him would de for
holiday use, and the fi)1ed watch would be to use every day.
Q Did he ever sell you any goole? A No, sir, but I knew that

hew ss a ealeaman, and I knew that he was connected vith selling

oloaks and suits and shirtwaits, and things of that sort, from

other people that knew him.

- OROSE EXAMINATICON BY MR, "FIL:

Q What ie your business, sir?! A Jewelry,

0 And where io yéur place of bu_sineal?‘ A Bl East 1248%h, |
Q@ And you also nvc.thereu Yes, : o | | ‘ ]
Q Married man? A Yes,

0 Living with your family? A Yes,

0N

Q@ And how long have you known the defendant? A About four

or rive'yearl.

Q Vave you known him only in a business way, or sooially, aloof
A I have known him in both ways. | E

0 FHave you s ver boch out with him? A Yo, but I see him nrou;d.i
now and then, - :

n Have you visited himat his home? A Yes, two or three
times,

0 And he has visited you at your home?! A Ne,

® Do you know his witﬂj I have met her. I understand that
he has been married oalj lately, I have met her. ,

Q Wow, when was the last time that you saw him?A i see him
nearly every minute tﬁ the'duy. svery day.

Q@ Pusiness visite, or what? A Wo, just passing by,




il And saving "hellef,

0 And where 40 you see him every 4ay? A In my nughborhood. '

Lenox AVemue and 124%h B8treet, and sround that neighdorhood, when _
I would be running around, and would meet him.
iy 5 Q@ Did you s e him this noi'ning, before you came to oourd?
A No, he subpoenced me last night. | |
Q@ "here?! A On Lenox AVenue, between 1168th and 1i;r'th Street,
A And, 28 a matter of faot, you playl oards with him, ‘don"t
yqu?g I don't play oﬁrda.
N You go out with him to the theatre? A No, sir, I don's,
¥R, FIRESTONE: If yOur» Honorplease, I don't think that Ques=
tion wae falir, as tc playing cards with him, b
THE COURT: Overruled, It ie oroess examination,
MR, FIRFETONE: Exception. 0
BY VR, WEIL:
Q Now, M»s Feiner, you say you .‘old him a bill of goods
hetwéon the 18¢h an4 the 33nd of Novembertp Yoo, sir, :
’W "hat 414 yous ell him? A Fourteen carat oot@ utti.
and a fille 4 watoh, both Flgin make,
Q Wwell, you ssy that you were surprieed that he bought two
# stches? A I waen't surprieed, dut I asked him what was the 1&&.
b d 0 And you knew that he was buying them to sell to other powh*
4i4n't you? A No, sir, he said that he bouzht them for his own
use, H¢ gaid that he had no watoh at the t ime, and he esaid before
that,"Some time I will come over and give you a call for a watoh,"

Q Di4 you sell him those articles onoredit?s Wo, =ir, for
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cash, Certainly for oash. .

0 And you say that you hnve Aiscussed hie reputation for

honestytA Yes, :
0. With whom? A Well, I aalﬁ that I have spoken to a number b
of people a bout 1t, and they Adon't say snything arainet ﬁin at
sny time, When I got the sutpoena, last night, I said, "It 1s a
etronge thing that Sohnfman is arrected for laroeny " |
Q@ To whom 414 you say that? A In a,publid cafe, with » lﬁt'
of men around.
n VNow, give me the name 2nd addrees of any person who was
present thenlA I,C;n!t give you the addréoo.
Q@ Then how 40 vou ¥row that they knew him?! A Beoause I have
seen ¥r, Schafman in their company.

6 You know them, too? A Yes, from vieitingthis place.

0 Well, give me the name of one?A Just a moment, and I will
try to zive you the name of someone that knows him.

Q@ No, That you met in the oafe, last night®A Ibll; I don's

3

:

¥now thege reople that I sat with, I don't know them by name.

4

8
:
gis
b3
il
2
5

Q Wow, please tell me the name of any other people who know
him, other than those that you met in the gafe, whose names you
don't ¥now? A Yell, the reason that I am hesitating to give you

any names, ie that I don't krow those pecple Dy name,

reputation for honesty, and who you say know the defendant, and
you don't know the rame of a single one of those persons? A T

do0 not,
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ﬂ!QIIlOT EXAMTRATION RY ¥R, PINTOTONE:
Q@ Now, this public cafe that you are talking sbout is not

A plage where they sell liquor, is 1t? A No, 1t is a restaurant.

Q It is n restaurant where they ecll coffee and oakeTA Yos,
it is a lunoh room,
Q You mean & reataurant? A Yes, That 1s all 1t is, You
can't buy any treer or wine or nothing.
VR, WEIL: That is unforhnnﬁ for you, _
‘MR, PIRESTONE: Now my friend interrupte again, and he i
trying to make t00 much of this pudblic cafe,
TFE cmm'z’ .Proond. |
PY ¥R, FIRFRTONE: . _
0 And you see the people that go in there every evening?
A Yem, |

0 and they come there withtheir wives and children, don't

they?

MR, YEIL: I objeot to that, if your Honmor plu’gi. because 7
oounsel is tenuﬁing. The witness ien't testifyinr to thytq
bepr coURT:  Sustaimeds It 1s lesding.
RY ¥R, FIRFSTONE! |
0 vc.ll, 40 they come there with their families?!
¥R, "EIL: ] objeot %o ﬁnt ne immaterial, irrelevant

and incompetent,

THE OOUNT: Suppose that they 4o come there with all
their families, inoluding the babies. Mo eays it is & place
where they go to buy coffee, and oake. |

¥R, FIRTETONE; That i» all,vour Henor,



BY THE COURT:

Q Now, one mdment. You nTe in the general jenlrj businkes?

A Y*!. .1:;

Q Bave you got a pawnbroker's licenee? A I am not a pawne

broker, ’ , , L e
Q You ars not a pawnbroker? A Wo, sir,
0 Do you menufacture? A ¥o, sir,
Q An4, in addition to this sale of these two watohes that

you ' ve mentiocnad, what other goode have you sold the 4 efendant?

AT have sold him & 1ittle stiokpin, and a pair of gold ouff linkese
Q When?! A Perhape =21x or seven month» from the time that I

8014 him the w atches,

Q But he wne never a salesran for yoult A Oh, nb.

O And, aes far as you know, these were merely persomal purchase
es for hie own use? A Fe 414 buy them for his own uses
0 What were the giroumstances under which you say that you

wa-t to hie house? A Why, he phoned, one 4ay, snd he said, "If

you éomo over to the house, I might be @10 to talk to you about |
a square watoh,” and he 2aid to oome »fter supperj shout Au even 0':}
And I went t~ se¢ him, and he nsked me to :z_'ivo him a price op
anlootam watoh. :
And I said, "forty-nine dollars.” And he -ail4d, "Ie that
the beet that you oan 401" And I eaid, "Yeg,"
And he as¥ed me if I had one with me, and I took it out of

the white hag in whioch jewelers keep watches to p'rennt their

beinr soratghed, and showed it to him,

0 Have vou slways visited him on business? A Yes, sir,



Q Fow, what waes the bDusineeson t he other coomeion, Af

thare was another cocons'on? A I 8014 him a pair of ocuff 1tnlo.

and nleso a etick pin,

0 An4 how many times have you been to hie house all toldl

L Probably three times,

Q How 1bng have you known him? A About four or five yearec,

Q@ Do you know wvhether he ever had ahy place of businens?

A Vo, sir.

RECROSS EXAMINATI OF BY ¥R, "EIL:

nH Do you remerber sesing him on the 18th day of Degember,

19177 You eay that you saw him svery 4ay?! A Degember or

Noverber?
N DegcembertA Degember?

N Yes, A I(gan't sny jf. or no to thétQ ] am not sure.

N Whern 414 vou learn that the defendant ~ as under arrest?

A Abéut a week ago,

0 And how 441 you learn that?! A Why, I met him in tbil restoaw

‘ant. And tre reason I vieited this restsurant --= if you will all.v 4
me to tell you,.1I w111 tell you,
0 Oh, it ie 2 respectable place, I assume? A And I met

him in there, =nd he said, "I got myeself into trouble nvir nothin

and I snid, "How ie that?" ind he said, "somebody stole something,
| and he szid he haprened to rass by, and he wae ar:eutéd with
some man, and I eald, "Wh~t 4o y;\x mean, tl:at you got into
tpouble about nothing," and he told me what I eaid hefore, and

I laughed at him, and went over to get my lumch in snother part



of the place.

0 Yhy 414 you lsugh at him? A Pegause I naver héard before

0f a person getting himeelf into troudble sbout nothing,

YR, FIRFRTONE: If your Honor please, 4is there any resson

*hy these businese men should he kept here, when they want to go
kM ack to their business, these witnes-es who have teatified? They

understand that they are deing detained in ocourt,

THT COURT: Wo. They may be exoused,

ALFRED SCHAFU AN, of 161 Manhattan AVenue, the

defendant, being duly sworn, t-stified as followst
DIREOT EXAMINATION BY ¥R, FIRFSTONE:

0 Mr, S0hsfman, how 0ld nre you? A Forty-three.

O There wera yon bém? A United Statpes,
0 what City? A Few York.

(8

And what 8 chool 414 von a ttend?A The Hebiev Orphan Asylum,

Q How o0ld4 were you when you oame out of the Orphan Asylum?

A 'bout twenty-two or twenty-three. .
n And how long had you been nt the Orphan Asylum, how =any
yeara?A About ten or el»ven; I am not quite sure.
Q And wher you first ~ame out, what d4id you first do? A I

wert to work for a concern named the Speyer Plating Worke, 118
wWalker Btreet.

Q@ How lopg were you employed there?! , "Cven years.

0 Where 414 you go to work then? A "Sguel Weies, and Jo_ﬁ' :
Langeman, 49 Crosby Street.s

Q@ Inwhst line? A Platinge




] ; n o /
Q Fow long?! A About three yfuri.
Q@ Whet 414 you A0 sfter that? A I took the oconoern over @

my own name from Mr, Weiss, under the name of the Trench Fleotroe

platinr Worke.

Q@ And how long were you in bueiness for yﬁuu-if? A Five or
8ix vears, | |

Q Ana dur1ﬁ5 the ¢ime that you were in that business, 414
you meet My, Bieber?! A Yeaso | -

Q@ And, after you r ot out of that bua1neo.. vhat 414 you de?
A I went in to custom paddling.

lost

0 You ha?!/some money in the businessth Yeg,

0 V¥ere you ever arrﬁated or tried for any crime in yéur
14fsTA Yo, sir, A

@ Do you remember this 18%h day of Necember? A I 40,

@ Do you know thie man Lafrano, that they are talking sbout?

A ¥o, eir,

0 Did you ever meat him in your 14fe before the time that
you were arrested? A Yo, eir, A

0 On thet 4ay, 40 you r-0all where you wers during th;
Lftﬂrroonj A Iwne fovntown, sround Caral %treet,

Q@ "erelA Arouni O&hll.Btroot.

Q Yhere?! A Coing up on Broadway, 448 Btoidwuy. the Bastern

Verchendise Company.

' Q You say that you went to w«hot place on Brosdway? A I was
firstly uptown, with fochneider Brothers., It was about two o'.li.tf?

between two and three 0'0l00k == I ar not sure.



O And then where 414 you go! A “ight downtown,

0 To wh4 place? A A hoskery house here on Fester Ttreet, =

g

or Howard Street, I think 1t 1s - Ani Hro-1way.vand then 1 went %o

another concern, "™etern Veromaniise Company , of 442 Broadway,

tonee 1f there was any sale %a&irw.plho...

Q Anf from there, vhere 4i4 you go?! About what flne 114
you leave there, the ?aatefn Merghandi se Company, 44° Bro@dvly?
A About four or half past foure I am not aﬁrp.

0 Where 414 you 2o then? A I walled right uptown to 13th
Btreet. |

Q Intowhose plnoo?AA Iwas oonsidering to go into ¥r, Bieber's
place, 58 West 13th,8t:aot.
RY THE cﬁmr:

0 You say that you 4i4 not re=ch that plage} do fou? A Yes,
T wae on the corner, Iwas first gnﬁ_ng home on the subway,.

0 PFad you gone into *that placelA Ves, eir, T was up 2t the

rlace, the first floor,
RY ¥R, FIRTATONE:
n An4 wne Vr, Reeber in at the time? A Wo, sir,

Q Now, you purghased some waists that day, 4idn't you?

A Yes,
0 Where 414 vou buy them? A On “ixth AvVenue,

0 Sixth Avenue and what? Near what street?A Between Univer- |

ity Place and Fifth Avenue -- no, Fifth and Sixth AVemue.
O On what street, 40 you r-oall? What street was it on that

you tousht the waiete?A 1 don't know vhether 't was exaotly 168%h

and 17¢h Street, or 15¢h and 18%h Street. Thers ave ouite a ﬁni



sales places there, along there, and I seen them hanginge up on the

wall, and 1 1iked ther, snd I bought the ~aiste,

Q When wae that? A About three o'olook.

@ On the way 4down f rom Schneider Bpothers, uptown?

A Yea,

0 sn4 when )eﬁ arrived at ¥r, Piedber's place, snd he wasn'$
in, 411 you leave therst? A Yeg,

Q@ There 414 you po then? A I went right home.

0 You 41dn't reach home, though, 111 youlA No, I wae on my

way home,

Q Where did you come from to go homelA ¥y, Bieber's rlace

is sifusted on the downtown side of 13¢h Street, and the streets
wvere _ragher crowdeds There was & block of trucks and wagons, and
T 414n't want to go tthuqh the sidewalk, where the aidevalk wae -
sonpeated with ¢ ~ses, »n? so 1 crossed the stre~t to the uptowm
eile, and I crossed 1ir-gtly from ¥Vr, Pisder's plaoce.

o And, after you cro=sed the street, wvhere 411 §Ou go?
A "hen} towards Fifth Averue,

0 TFor whkat rurpcee? A To go ~n the buse

O And4 to go where? A Home,

Al couldn't very well orose Univeresity Place, a® there was abipg

(

erowd there, 7

A Yess A Ans so I dodged about ten or fifteen feet from th‘i?
corner, to orces over, and I had one foot on the sidewalk, and ou.t%
foot on the gutter, ant ?he;!tl‘ot was very orowded, v

PHE COURT: The OFand Jury is ocomirg in now, and that will be all



until after recess. The witness may etep down.
(The Oourt sdmonished the Jury in nogordarce with
Q®gtion 4186 of the code of Criminal Preooedure, and took

a regess until 2,10 P.Av.)
AFTFR RECESS,

THE COURT: Proceed with the case on trial, Reoall
the witneass, who wae sent for his hooks,
¥R, "WITLL: ¥r, Schneider?

TFE GOURT: Yeeo.

MAY SOCRYEIDER, being r00t11§d for further
examinat fon, testified nes follows:
BY THP C”ﬁﬁ?: |
Q That hnve you theretA The cash book and anles book,
Q Now, turr to your bocks for «= A “undries aceount.
0 For November, Wos th=t t e month in which you =sais thatv
-yOu had » transagtion "dth the defendant?A Yes, sir,
BY ¥», YFIL:
0 You anid tre middle of ﬂoooibef. 414n't you, WNr,
fcheneider?
¥R, PINTATONE: Now, just a moment, ¥r, Weill, Let
the Court examine him.
BY THF COURE:
Q Now, in November, do you find "ny entyy of any transsotion

with the defendent? A 2imply ossh sales acoounts.
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QO And oan you point out any transagtion that you had with the
deferdant theretA There woe one here of thirty-eix dollars, Thofo '
sre quite a few you know, your Homor, but I don't know just whioh

ones they are, because they nre marked omshe %ome have nomes, and

some are marked gash, 8o I can't tell juat‘thq one whioh is hiass
Q VFow, oan you' turn to any month, »nd point ont any ¢ rane-
notions that you hed with the defendant, that you Xnow to have

been » transact!on between vourself snd the defendant? A There is

i, i
]

sn amount of #688,75, But they are all marked oash, nnd‘t can 't

tell about them,

0 Yhat 4o these numbe-s maen (indioating)? A The folie
number in tr- gaeh hook,
@ Fow, turn to the rolio nuibor'in th~ oash book‘of that .3Q;
. item which you spoke off A November 7%h, 1911,'oalhvonia|, tSC&Q ;
RY ¥®, FIRFSTONE: | '
Q- Yhat date was t hat, ¥z, SCheneider?) Wovember 7th, it ie
dated hereq

BY THUF COURT!S

N Now, Aoes that show what the goods were? A Yes, this one
e ows the cash that T col'egted, to enter in the salas deook,
0 'Now, Anes that show the goodetA Yes,

O VYhere?! A This book here showe the goods, the aales book

and *he oash hook,

0 vow, whot were the gocde?A I don't know just whioh enes |
tally up with thie a~ount, There 18 a lot of gash sales aoo.nal.;‘g

and T cen't just tel)l whioh “nees tally up. That is what I told

vyou nreviously.
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Q Yhat are these items here (indionting)? A These are sundry
itemn.

O With the names of ocustomersTA Yo, sire Juet lndiyidunln
that come in, like a girl *hnt comss in for one euit,

0 Well, here I see B, and R. What does that mean? A Well,
thil fe a cloak and suit houeso thnt.oones in for an acoommodation,
T ie !» the B, and R, Clonk =n4 Tuit Company.

RY w®, "FLL:
Q Vell, what ~ooount sare y;u-referrinzvto? A That is the
‘sundry . acoount. (Indioating).
¥R, FIW!PTﬂ!r: Fow, I think that he nuﬁhg to let
the witnecs answer your Honor fully, bafore he agks aaoﬁher
qﬁnation.
¥R, WETLL: Wil your Horn~r bear “ith me for a moment?

Thies testimony i-o éiven in suck a way that we have no regord

of what the witnees is referring to, He said, "This" and that

meane nothing, 2nd I ask him to refer to the page and the 7

book, |
BY THY OOURT:

0 Wﬁ]l, what is that? A The B, and R, Cloak and “uit Company
oome in for an smccommodation, oocassion}ly, and ask for a ouit, or

something of the kind, = nd they pay for it, ju-t to ?aie uﬁ a OOIOV
| plete ous, |

O But what ie there to bhéw what the goods are? A?lbll. thlﬁ.'ﬁ
ie the esales book,YOou told me to bring the salee ledper and the
onsh book, which, your Foner, I 4id, I oan easily point out

on the sasles LoOk all these various nuabers,
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O Put you have ne name in sny transagtion~ ith tho Aefeniant? %

BY ¥R, WEILL:

-~

0 Fow, referring t0 == are these pages numbered? A Vell,

some of these are filled, =n1 po out.

Q Fow, I »ant = regord of thias, Is there any way in which I

osn get on the regord whot this hook 1s? "hat is it, this book?

A The anles book,

© Yert in your busineasa? ‘A Yea,

Q And I have hare two pages, beginning with»%h~'4a€c of
Noverber 13th, and headed, "Sundries®? AVes.

Q@ And on that Ante s ojontaimd 8 1iet of onsh 2ales made

to suetomare, and “he 4 .teg pa=t oppoasite to the goncern or the

individual? A YVeosu,

0 Tigh one_o? these items refers %o a cash =ale} ic thet

nsorrect? A Veg,

Q@ So thet every cash sale referred to on this page of

your sslee book aleo contains the name of a person "r a CORCETR

with whem you 111 business?A Notall, ParS. You will find plenty

of oash nsles odmply rorked cnsh, bdut no name,
A Fell, heve you the names of some of the gash s ales, the

names of the ergons wit? vhom the gash sal~s we~e gonduoted,

s nd no* the o*here] A NoO, because I don't find any interest in

taking the name

N Now, what interest dpdymu find in taking the namee of some

of them? A If they cive me their namgse, wellant sood, I don's

sake this = sreoialty, of se)lling retail, All theee are retaill

i
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o customers,

0 Wow, will you plesse answer my question? For inetance, here

the first item 1s the B, and R, Cloak Company, debit $19.74. Now,

doss thnt mesn a onsh sale? A Yoo,

© ind4 you regeived that money from that company? A Yee,

3 QO Fow, the next iter ia Joe Crossman,$17. That meane the

same thing, 10pun't i%? A'Ye;. a cneh "ales

Q Fow, in these instances, ydu say you took the name o?wtho‘
cueto mer, begause you knwe thelr names, ant for no other roa.onf'
A Yea, | |

Q Tell, now, you'kﬁﬂv the defendant's nare, 414n't yﬁu? |
A §99, tut he is only = pnddlor. He only comes 1n andmmts gooiu.

and I don't find any "oe~altv “f mteing down his nome .

0 ¥ell, you ha@e trannagtiong ryepy month nf the year withl
him, forsin yeare, 4i4n't you?t A Y‘s, probably he bouwbt three

tineo a month,

O Now, in no instaroe 414 you have his name appear in vour

tonks snywhere? A Wo, =ir.

@

YRe FIRYATONE: Yow, Mr, Foreman, you ask £dr thico boovi,
erd I am going to t~v9 the witnese exp‘alﬁ to vyou,
PTDIPTOT EYAXIFNATION RY ¥M®, TIR'STONE:

0 Yow, fhnt suniries ngoount shows the rames of some of
the nrergone who purohnzed pondetTA Yee,

Q Wow, thot shows at least twenty-one 1te¢u of onsh, vtthonﬁVJi
aﬁy names, On these two pages?TA Yes, sir.
Q VFow, these books, are they books of 2goount, or this

partioular boék in question? A Well, I will have to lcok at its
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Q Well, oan you give us an i1eal? Is it one y ear or (-o yu.ﬂ*
A 1918 and 1017, ‘

Q Those pages referred to were not writtem for this oase,

for ths rurposce of thisoase? A No, sir.

© And how much 144 the sales amount to in your firmTA About
one hundred and twenty-five thousand dollars o yeoar,

Q Wow, does the gash book, and the folio numbers, refer to

the folios in the cash book!A Yes,

Q Now, does the cesh b0oOk =e- and the folio numbers, refer
to the folios in the gash book?! A Yes,
i (4] ‘Vhen a man makes a purohalo. you first entered in the

cash book? A No, in the sales book, and that is tranaferred inte

the sales ledgers
Q And the only reason why you only Srought thense bo'oto wae
because the Court told you to bring only thess two books?! A Yes,

0 And the entries in the gash book would show what was sold,

gloeks or suite or whatever it was? A Yeg,

Q Put would show no mﬁem ¥o, 8ir, Vherever it appears in
the ledger, the word "oash®, it would show gash in the lsdgor.
BY ¥, FIRESTONE: |

Q And it was a sale of sonething that was discarded; is
that the idealA Yes,

BY THF COIRT:

Q Now, you say that you sold the defendant a bill for sixty

dollars? A Yes,

o Five contesth Yes,
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Q@ Twelve dollares eachtA Yes,

Q SHow me that item in the books? A May 34%h, that ie the

dates, It 18 n Aifferent date. Bitty dollare. I can't just reobllect

what dates they were, but I huic an item of sixty 4ollare.

Q Ie that the only item of sixty 4ollars that vou have?
A Yee, | |

Q@ In May? A May 24%h. And there ie one in October, sixty
4o0llara, .
BY ¥R, WEIL:

0 Is there & name therelA No. All I find is "Cash $60." on
May 234th, |

Q@ Do you know whether that ie the item? A Yes, I think so,
but I wsen't quite sure of the date.

-

BY ¥R, WEIL:

0 What 444 you eay about the October item? A lﬁ, this is a
differant iten,
: ' Q Now, you claim that the -1xty dollars in May is & éalh sale
to the dofen‘laﬁt; do you not? A There is a sixty-four dollar oash '
eale, | |
Q VWell, you know t hat that 4is not the item th5ﬁ-you refb:ro‘
to, don't youl A It 1s a cash sale of $66.75. I ocan't remember the
4 ates or amounte exaotly, S
2 BNow, you‘tantifiod on the direot oxn-tnntlen.‘or tbi
oross eiantnntion, I don't remember whioch, that ybu eold the

defendant five oor ts, forwhich he paid you sixty dollarsth Yes,

sir.
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Q And you enid that that transaotion was some time in the

middle of Degemder of last year, or November of last yeare. Now,

do you find any such item in your books?

¥R, ?IRFéTO'!: I objeot to'thnt, if your Honor please, as
a gollatemlissue entirely. We are going away into an cb-dlté
ly collnteral iesue, This man has testified that he so0ld mere
ohandiue‘to tMn fefendant, at 4ifferent times, and he yn nske

ed to bring his bo ke here, and he has done 80, and he dces &

large bueinese, and he is nsked to remember partioulﬁr dates
in regard to transactions with this man, to whom he -old only
discarfied cloaks or suits, once or twtéo a month, and I lubnlti
that,that is not a part of the issue here,

THE COURT: You oslled him, and went into the question, and"
the Pore@an having asked for the production of his books, they

Prew——

,‘* 5
were produced, You opened the door into this matter, However,

if you don't want to lave the same contlnﬁod any further, I
think 1t has gone far enough. |
¥R, FIRESTONE: I told him to bfthg the books, so that the
- Jurors could see them,
THFE COUTT: Then that is all, ﬂStep down,

THE WITNESS: I can't recolleot the partioular month.

MR, WEIL: Well, 1ﬁ view of what has been se2id by ocounsel

for the defondant, I 4esire it %o appear on the regord that he
vas not asked to remember anything, He was nsked to teatify au
snewer the questione, ‘

THE WITNESS: Well, I have tried to remember the dates, bul

I can't, '
THE COURT: That is all, Step down, :
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ALFTRED BCHAVFVY AN, the defendant, being
recalled, and hie direct examination being continued,

teetified as follows:

DIRTCT EXAMINATION (Continued) BY ¥R. FIRESTONE:

-

Q@ I thirk that the last thing that you sald was --
THE COURT: He said that he walked west to go home on
13th Street. - ey & j
VHR. FIRESTORE® 'Yes. that was it. \
Q Now, what oocurred after that? A I was on the wng home,
going west to Fifth Avenue, to go uptown, and_dn I proéoododq
in the middle of the block on 13th Stkcet. between University Plage

and Fifth Avenue, 1 had one foot on the sidewalk and ome foot in

the pgutter, whcn'of.u sudden, I felt someone yank ic i& the
shoulder (illuetrating), and I turned around and r-altsad it
was an offiger. ..

And T e2id, "What e thia?" inrd he ssid,-- he answered -.'
in a rough manner,

& Well, what di8 he say? Cex you reoaJl} A Veli, he used
slang. I don't 3u§t renxerber what 1§ was. And I said, "What |
i this? Wnat'as oomlng'olf hexe? Are you orasy, off youx‘ntnﬂt'

| And witg that another officer oome, and he givs me over into
his custody, and he yanked me #¢ hard that I eaid, "This iem't
negesnary. I'llygo with you, without your being so0 rough."

Q Did you ask him why you weie arrestedl , Yes, sir.

Q And he szid, "You'll find out in the station house®,
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444 he? A Yes. | 93

0 And after that you went to the station house with these

two officers? A Yes,

Q Was anything said by you to them belldoo what you hade
#24d? A No, sir. When 1 got there to the station house, the
rirstﬂono 1 spoke to wae theﬁliautenant. 1 gave him ny name and

‘address. |

Q Did the officer, or any officer, say unything to you abous
your being charged with a éri&e of any kind? A f don't remember.
I know I was under arreet. And he said, "You'll find out in the
atition house." 'l"ha.t"n all the words I remember him saying.

Q@ That's all that was satd_to you up to that time? A Yic;fr

because I didn't want %o iay’anything. I respected his uniform

and ®0 on, and I said, "All right. I'll go to the station houese
with you®. ' | | R

Q Bow, as naifei 6f fact, you have heard th.ioolcrbd gtntloé §
man, on the stand, ir., Harleston, iay that you were walking froi f-;g
you were at 16th Street and Union gquare, and that you were :
endeavoring to push a parcel into the box, or kind of shoving it
in and out, that you were pulling it out and in. VWere you ia'
that corner at any time on that day?! , I was at no time at

- Union Bquare.

”~

¢ That day? A That partiocular day, yes, or that hour.
Q And when you came to 1l3th Btrees, you were ao-lig from

downtown? A Yes, going up.
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Q And when you left 13th Ssreet, you were going weet on

13th Street?! A Yes, going hon.

Q Did you at any time take any parcel from Ia.nybo&y ma
oarry 1t? A I didn't see anybody. I wasn't with anytody, and I |
dl¢n't'hava anything in my hands.

Q You hu.va' stated that you have never been arreated in yoir
1ife, and neyer'have been in trouble in your life? A Yoi.

KR. FIRESTONE: You may examine.
OROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. WEILt

Q low..ur. Schafran, where did ybu.livo at the tmnokof your
arrest? A 161 Usnhattan Avenue,

Q And how long have you lived at 161 wanhattan Avenue?

A 8Bix months .

Q Do you remember being asked by the clerk im the H‘shﬁ“eﬂ

' Qourt your name? A Yes.
Q And you said Alfred Schafman? A Yes.
'Q “How old are you! 43 years old*. , TYes.
Q "Where were you born? In the United States“. , Yes,
Q "Where do you live and how long have you nvod thcrot'
And your answer was, "506 West 135th Street"! A Yes.
@ D14 you live there?! , VNo, sir. .
Q That was not your correct address? A UFo, sir.
Q _Aud you knew at the time that you made that anewer that

it wa® not your cgerrect address? 4 Yes,

Q And you were asked your business? ), Yes.

|
|
|
|
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Q And you said salesman? A Yes.

4‘0 Is that correct? A  Yesn.

n

Were you a salesman? A Yes.
& Well, buying and selling goods.

'Q But you were not a salesman for any person?! Youwere your
own bossl! A i said general -aloo-sn t0o the lieutenant, That's
thes worde 1 said to him,

Q Well, you were not employed by anybedy? A No, sir; not
particularly.

Q  You were working for yourself, weren's you?! A Yes, always
for myself.

Q Rai, you say you live at 161 Manhattan Avenue! A Yes.

Q Near what street is that? A 107th and 108th Street.

Q "hat time 4id you leave your home, th;t day, the latiiof
December, 18177 A About eleven, between elevenand twol;o.

2 In the morning? A Yes.

Q And where did you go to?! A I went over to 1ll7th Street
and Lenox Avenue, to buy a pair of rubbers, between 1l16th and
117¢h Street, on Lenox Avenue, on the east side of the Strees.

, where _
Q Yes. And from there/did you go?! A I went in and had

lunch,
Q That was around noon time then?! A Yes,

Q@ Around noon time you were in Harlem?! A Yes, I was in

135%h Btreet,

@ All right. Now, you had your luneh? A Yes, eir.
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Q And where 444 you go then? A Downtomn, to Schneider

Brothers.

Q To Schneider Brothers?! A Yes, oir.

e

Q Whaf time 414 you reach Schneider Brothers' place?! A Aiouli

two or three o'clook,

Q Who 414 you see when you went there! , Mr. Schneider,

Mr, ¥Max ESchneider,

r~

C The gentleman who was on the witness stand this morning?

A Yes, sir. :

Q And ;hat did you do there? 4 I said I jﬁlt came around
to see if he had unyth;ng,that he could dispose of, gna he said
not now, but he will let me know in a day or so. |

0 And where did you go then? A I walked down Sixth Avenue
from his plage.

Q Where is his place of.buninols? A 16th Street -~ mno,
30 Test 17th Street. Cohneider Brothers,

Q Yes. Near what avenue 1c’thatr A That'e near Sixth

Avenue,

s

Q Go on, please, And wh ere 41& you go! A I went towards
S84xth Avenue, down Sixth Avenue, and I was looking along the
stores, and finally I seen a display of waists and furs. |
Q And you bought twe w;totlﬂ A TYes. |
G Whers did you buy thes? 4 FEisher between 158h and 1¢!l,,;t
Street, or l6thed 17%h.

Q From what oonoern? A There is no congern., Ther is
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displays there on the walls in halls. They sell cheap goods,

RN §
dresses, petticoats and waiste,

Q And where 4id you go then?! A I walked on to l4th Street

and S8ixth Avenue, and I took the oar.

Q What car? A The 14th Street.

C Coing east o west?! A Going eat. And transferred to
Broadway, going down.

Q Yes., A And I went down with the intention of buyxag-
hosiery, at Boward S8treet and Broadway.

© That's near Canal Street, 1on°§ 1$1 o Well, thorolttbt
little street between. | :

Q Well, it's about a blook away from Canal Street? A Yes.

But this place is on the southwest gorner of Howard Strees,

Q What ie the name of the house that you'ieﬁt to?! A I éonld 4

not think nok\ of the namxe, but it 18 a hootogy houlo.
Q@ Had you‘ever been there before?! A Yes, I have hOughtvv

goods there,

C And you don't know the name of the plage? ‘ Well, 1
can't just think of it,. it'o a Russian naze,

Q And you know that that congern is there, 40 you?
A Vhy, esure. And 1 didn't like anything there. rh'cy were all
s sgonds snd I couldnit use them. | |

€ ¥hom did you see when you went into the place of bustq’oo
of that firm? A Gome man working in there, a young fellow there.

I don't know his name, but I could point him out if I saw
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him again, and I was through there, and then I went up Broadway.

N When 4id you get finished there, about what Sime?

A About a quarter to four, around four o'cloeck,.

Q Then where did you go?! A I stopped into 448 Broadway,
the Eastern werchandise Couwpany.

& Vhere is that?! A Between Grand and Howard.

Q Yes, Wnat sort of a conoern is that? A That'e a commie~
#ion house, auotion rooms .

Q What 444 you do there?! A 1 went in there and asked for
e Bievsemn.

Q Did4 you see him? A He wasn't in. The other goﬁtll-aa
{n thers told me that he had left ani he didn't know when he

would come back, and I uzsrked him when his next sale toot*pl&ec.‘llt

he said the following day, meaning Thursday.
0 Meaning Thursday?! A Well, a week from the time thas I

was there before. I was going to buy ladiee' apparel,

~© D14 he say Thursday?! A I don't rencibor tho day 0116111. ‘é
I am not sure of the day. And I was through there whemn I oouldn'\,f@
see ¥r, Bierbaum, and then ] walked up Broadway.
0 Do you know the day of the week you were arrested? A Ydo;;
Tuesday, | 1
C Oo‘on. A And I walked up aﬁ far as 13th Street, and I
reminded pyself of this congern,

2 pid you walk up Broadway?! A Yoo;

2 On what side of the way?! A I walked up as far as
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‘Houston Street on the east side, and then I croseed over and
walked on the west side,going uptown,

¢ And you reached 13th Street and Broadway? A Yes,

G At what time?! A About half psst four or so., I had neo

time with me, and so I wasn't sure of the time.

Q Now, go on. A A% the corner I paused and I reminded

myself of this comcern, Wolf & Bieber, 58 Eust 13th Strees,

-

0 And between what avenues is that? A That's between Broade

way and University Plage.

C And is that west or east of Broadway? j East,

C Go on. A 'FNo, that's west of Broadway. The street startse

right there,

—

Q@ Dom't you know’;ﬁether or not it is east or west of Broudc;
way?A A It's right near Broadway.

Tell, you went to Bieber's place, didn't you?! A Yes,

C Well, where ie 187 Eastor west of Bfoadwcyt ‘A TWess
oflgroadway. |

Q@ All right. Go on. You went in there? j I went up~

stairs.

Q .What floor are they on?! A Firet floor, turﬁing $0 the
lefs, | |

€ And 41d you walk upt A Yea.

Q Andwhomdid you see?! , I nm. ir there, and there is »
sort of a long hall that leads to the private office, and then

vbu have to turn to the righs. Well, ]I didn't go in all the




way, that day, and I called out, "Is Nr. Bieber in?" And some~

body ineide of the shop said he wasn't in, and the bell was riging

in the shop. v

1 had no particular resson to0 go in, but I went in, because

he had promised me that he would give me and opportunity in a
plating establlishment, and he didn't know exactly what it woull be,
and I eaid I would drop in a#y'ttno i was in the notghborhéod, and‘~'
I a14. |

Q And then you went where? A Down %o the street,

| Q And in what direotion did you walk? A I dldn't walk in ; j

- no direot:on, but I'atopped and watched the orowd in the’ltttot,’
‘¢rucks and other things,

Q And how long did you stand there? A About ten minutes.

Q@ Did you stand still all that timel A lo.'olrs _I didn't

stand still. I didnt't oroes right away, because it wa-'oloppy and
muddy, and I finally croesed the street to the uptown side, and
when the street was oclear, I finally orooood,ut‘Univtr-tty ’lllt;
and in the middle of the block I was arrested.

Q Do you know Schafman Brothere? A Yes,

Q Are they related to you? 'A Yol..

I never go near. them.
Q Do you mean to say that you didn't give them as a reference?
A No, sir. 1 want to deal with all steange people.

Q And when ¥r. Schneider teetified that you gave them
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as reference, he wae mietaken? A Oh, I mentioned sheir name %o

him, but he never asked me about them. I mentioned them myself,

I mean in regard to this case, I didn't refer to them,

Q Did you ever give Schafman Brothers as a roferoncot
A DNo, sir.

Q@ To any concern that you intended to do business with, or
did business with? A No, sir; .novor.

Q 8o that when Mr. Schneider sald that you gave Schafman
Brothers ae reference, he is mistaken? A I don't know wheshers

he is or not, but I mentioned their name to him, juset offhand.

Q Arent't they your cousins? A Yes. But I don't remember
that I told thew that I was their cousin, firet off, whem I

began to deal with him,

Q When 444 you %ell him? A I don't tcioibor 1!_1 did oi
not. I didn't have no ocoasion %0, | \

Q How about Cohen Brothers? Did you qvor_¢1v§ them as
reference? A Yes.

Q To whom? A I didn't give them as refersve exaotly.

.I represented them when I went up %0 gertain places to buy things, .g

to manufaoturers.

¢
%
"

4

Q You have alwaye paid cash for anythtng'you bought? Yoqnii

Q And 1t wa:nit necessary for you $0 give a reference %o -
anyvody? A I ooecastonally got ten daye, that's all.

Q From whom?! A From Margoliee & Yolfberg.

Q Where are they?! A Theyare in the pame building with the
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Mirror Building, on B8ixth Avenue and 30th Strees.

Q When 414 they give you oredit? A Well, I haven's deals
with that conoern now in two years.

Q Two years ago?! A Yes,

Q And has anybody olco.gtvon you any oredit in the past
year or two?t | | '
(Ovjected to.)
A ﬂot negessarily.
MR. FIRESTONE: That isobjected to, if your gonor
prlease.
MR. WEIL: I will withdraw the guestion,

€ Now, what did you mean when you said to the offiger,

' *Whatves coming off herel* Aloesupo I was astonished to gee the
cormotion, and me boing yanked the way I was by the officer.
I said, to the'officer, "What's the trouble? What,s the matter?"

Q But did you say, "What ooming off here?® A Well, I am

not sure of the worde., I was excited then, I never was arrested
that way, and wa-‘neidr accosted shat way.
Q You are not excited now? A ' Absolutely not.
Q@ And you know what you are saying? A Yes, :
Q Well then, didn't you say in your direct examination that 3
you said to the offiger, 'what'n coming off here?® A I said o
the officer, "What's the matter? Ih;a'n'tho trouble?® And when
I realized it wae an officer had me under arrest, and he had hol‘:f}

for

of my shoulder, and he said I would find o in the stathon h.uu,‘“



Aa—— e - p
13 Ing

I respected his uniform, and he gave me to another offiger,

Q Do you remember that you just testified that you said,

"That's ooming off here?® A Well, I wae e0 exoited that I can's
be sure of the exact wordse,

2 You kmew that you had done nothing wrong! A Yes, abeso=-
lutely nothing. But I didn't want him to hold me by the arm and
jostle me the way he 4id. And I said to the other officer, whem
he grabbed my arm, "Now, don't jerk me that way, because I'll go
along with pu." |

Q Well, what did you say to the osher officer, wﬂo firet
grasped youl! *"What's the trouble?! What's the matter? 'h.sfl

goming off herel®

Q /Dtd you explain anything to the officer, where you had
bean and what you were doing in that etrees? A No, sir; 1 au_-ﬁ g
ihinﬁ it was absolutely necessary t0 40 s0; no, eir.

Q Well, what did you say t0 hiz at the time o the arrest?
Tell us that exaotly.

(Objected to. Question withdrawn,)

A He di4dn't hold me one minute, then,

Q FNow, you say the other man who was placed under arrest as
the same time you were! A After I was yanked. Firet he was
grabbed.

Q 1011; you were right together, uoicn't yout A lo._ltr.éf-};

Q How far apart were you! A I had one foot in the gutter -‘

and the other foot on the sidewalk, and the street was crowded.
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I couldn't go one way or the other, because the street was

orowded, and before I knew what was what I was yanked by the

shoulder, and the other man was three or four feet from me .

Q In what direction? A Goinge towardes Fifth Avenue,

Q A head of you or beside you? A . Three or four feet amay
from me, in front of me. '

Q And you say there were other people there at the time?
A Yel.loir. v

Q And the ofificer took hold of you with one hand? A Yes,
he made one grad forhim, and the colored man who was there '.1“'
"There he is", and he made one leap for me ‘ulunrntn;). and I
tried to jerk off, and he said -- I said, "This isn't necessary,
I'1]l go with you without yanking me that way".

Q Weren't you arrested first? A No, sir.

Q Didn't you say th#t you were?! A No. I didn't say thli..
I sald the officer grabbed himfirst. | He was Ibdnt thxoov fﬁﬂ
ahead of me.

Q And the same officer that arrested him extended his hand
and ocaught you? 4 Yes,

Q And you were about three feet behind him? A Yes, sbout

(

Q Did you see a bundle there at the time you were plaged

under arrest? , Not just at that particular minute, but when ]

realized I wasunder arrest, I noticed what it was.

Q Didn't you have a bundle with yout , No, sir.
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Q What became of the two walete that you bought on Sixsh
Avenue! A I had them inmppocket, wrapped in tiesue paper,

Q Where are they! A The offigcer took them from me in the

station houlo.
Q In which pocket did you have them? A In my inside coat
poeket (indicating).

Q Your inside coat pocket? A Y dontt know if I had the two

of them in that pocket,

BY THE COURT:

Q Did you have on that same suit of gclothes that you are
wearing? A I shink that I had, ott; And I had my black ower-
coat on, and haes a ind- pocket on the side.

Q And was it in your coat pooket or your overcoat pookes?
A Both were in your ovirooa& pook.t; I believe.

Q Boththe waists were in your overcoat pookes? A Yes, in
tissue paper; one in the inside pocket and the other in this
pocket (indicating the right hand outside coag pootcﬁ).

BY MR. WEIL:

Q Why did4 you put in your inside pocket and the other in

your outude pocket? A Well, 1 didn't want to orease them up .
They were white orepe de chine, and 1 didn't wlnf to erush them upaﬁ£

Q 'Buo you an offige for the transagtion of your business? v
A No, eir.

Q@ Have you had an office during the lact two yeare?

A No, sir.
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Who do you live with? A My wife. -”‘p

How long were you married? A  Five years.

Five years?! A Yes.

OH O L DO

You heard a witness testify here that —-
MR. FIRESTONE: I objeot.,

MR. WETL: I withdraw the question,

F S

Fow, you know ¥r. Feiner, a witness in this case? , Yes.
Q@ And you have done business with him? A A little. |
Q Did you buy two watches from him? A Yes.
Q When? A in November.
Q@ ™at kind of watohes were there? A One was an Ootagon
watoh, and the other was a sort of a round watch, a big one.

Q DNow, do you remember buying five ocoate, or fivo‘¢10|kl;

or five suits from Mr. Schneider? A Yio.

Q VWhen?! A I Wught at different times goods thoro.‘

Q vhen did you buy a bill of goods, donoi'ting of tlvovunttc.
or coats, or ocldasks? A I don't know whithervtt was the early |
part of June or the latter part of ¥ay that I pougbt a bill eof
goods from him. And I bught, a week after that -~ I met him on
the street and I said, "Max, have you anyShing in view?!® And he
said, "I think I've got some things that you oan wse".

And I said, ;Bow much?® And he said, *I'll give you them
cheap®. » |

And 1 went down that afterncon, and he was busy with his

books, and he exoused himself, and I let it go for a week or mso,

'
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and he brought me up the two garments in person. 107 ,

Q Now, aid you buy any oanp goods from him in the month of
November, 1917t A I bought eomething from him in November, but

I don't remember how muech. I think it was either two coats, or

a coat and a suis,

Q VThat 4id you pay for them? A I guess the bill wae thirsy
or thirty-fiwe dollare.

Q Well, ie all thie gueesswork, or do you kz}cﬂ A Val, 1
don't know, beocause I buy small things, and I don't keep no book ori

inventory. because it's my business only.

¢ Dia you ever get a W 1l from aohndxdort A No, sir; he
may have given me a bill onge, but I tore it up. |

Q And he may have given you a hundred dollar - bille, nd you
may have torn i% up? Do you reimbor whether he did or not?
A I couldn't say, I have bills from other conoerns, but nome
from him,

Q Did you ever get a bill for the merchandise you bought
from Peiner? A Yes.

Q Where is i%?

YR. FIRESTONE: Here it is, Mr. Weil.

BY MR. WEIL:

Q@ But you didn't get any bill for the merchandise that you :
bought "“, Sohneider? A 1 don'st rcn-bo:; 1 dqu't thtnk' I ever
got a bill, but Af I did, shat's asbout three or four years ago, |

begnuse every time I come in ]I am rushed, and have no tim to



- and he wouldntt give it to me, and I got a bill for the Jewelry i

"I. a8 character witnesses?! , Yes.

T T —— T . e ‘
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spare. In the station house I asked the lieutenant for my 30:.11'L5

afterwards.

Q In other worde, you didn't have this b1ll until after you
were arrested, for thi intohoo you purchased? A ‘Yoo.

Q And 80 the bill wasn't given to you when you.bough\ the
merchandise?! A Then I hougbt the nc:ch¢n41-o.»x didn't get that
bill; ne, sir, . _

REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. PIRESTONE:

Q ‘wbon you say you didm't refer tc Schafman Brethers, in
ansvwer to Mr. Weil's question, you mean that you didn't have them
come here as character witnesses for you? A Yes.

_Q And T told you not to bring any relatives aown'hor'. didn's

C And that's the reason why you didn't bring down any
relatives?! A Yes.
REGROSS EXAMINATION BY WR. WEIL!

Q But you also said that you didn's refer to them in giving
a referenge? , Yes, I never did. |

Q You know, as a business man, that when you buy for oash,
it len't nooq;n;ry to give referencesy A TYes.

C And you know that your money is betser shan any reference;
don't you! A Yes. And I absolutely always pay cash,

¥R, YEIL: That's all.
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BY THE COURT: . Liy
Q One moment. You saw this colored man on the stand here?

A Yes.

Q Did you eee hinm ihen you were arrested? A Not just at
that particular minutes, but when I got to ny-oir. ﬂnd 1 seen what
was ocoming off there, and I wasarrested, I noticed the oolqg!§~_
gentleman, He was about ten foot away all the time.

Q What was the ndne of the man that wae arressed wtfh yout
A I don't know, 7

Q Doﬁ't you know his name now? A I learnmed it in the
-tatién house.

Q You have seen him over in the Tombs? , BNo, sir.

@ You have nevof eeen him in the Tombe?! A No, sir. Tha%
ig, I have seen him here, the last ocouple of days.

Q. That'e what I mean. Or have you been on bail all the time? '
A vyes, sir; I've been on bail, ‘ |

Q FNow, when was ihe first time you esaw him? A In the sta~
tion house in yercger Street; that 18, before we vent to yercer
Streat, on 13th Street, where we were arrested. :

Q fou»ana him for the firet time on 13th Street? A Toc,.tr.f?

Q When you were arrested? A Yoo,'lir.v | |

Q What was he carrying, if anything? A One package,
different pargels together, wrapped up togesher, tied together.

Q Did shey have any outside wrapper around them? A 1 ;al'l

say. I think they were all loose pnokngooﬂpttod with one string
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around them, when 1 iun them in the station house, '110
Q Well, you saw them on the strest, didn't you! A Yes.
Q Now, I am aeking you this! when the officer arrested you, |

you say the other man had a package! A Yes,
Q What was the color of 187 A It looked like manila paper.
Q Now, what was it? One paper around the whole thing?

A No, eir. | ‘
Q ﬁbll. just descoribe i%. ‘A There were six or seven rack~

ages, put in together, and tied around with a string, half twine
like,

~

Q 'Tho-o pﬁokagco were separately wrapped up, do you cuyf'
‘A Well, each package had cord around each one, and them they
were all tied together with cord. |

Q Was there any address on the packages? A That I couldn's
say. .

Q Now, how large was all tﬁo packagese to;otacr? A !rcl
what I noticed of it in the station house, it was about thas bl;
and that hlgh and that wide(illustrating).

QC Now, did you 1ift it? A Ko, sir,

Q Did you carry it at any time? A ©HNo, sir.

Q Now, were these packages in boxes or pcpor?aLT I don's
know,  They -cra\hlod togothpr. Eagh package was wrapped in
separate paper, from what 1 seen in the stasion house, and all \h.fé
seven or eight boxes that were there ware wrapped Qlth a etring.

()
Q@ Well, you know what & shoe box looks like, don't youl?




A Yes.

Q

papers?

Q

Q

Q
Q

the other man at the same time? A Fot exagtly the same time,
your Honor. But he ﬁndo 2 leap for this man that was in froms,
and then the golored gentleman behind pointed me out from half
a dozen men that vere there, and he grabbed at me, and he w.nvtn Y
position like this (41luetrating). He took me from the gutter -

I waes in the gutser.

Q

I was shoved off the sidewalk in the commotion.

Q

an? you with the other? j Yes, because I was keeping on going,
and when I noticed tﬁe man get arrested, the officer asked ;‘
lieutehgnt. one of our army men, to please assist hln in tlkll‘
me to the station house, and then the otha? of ficer ocame,
Q@ OCan you give me the names of same of your culténorl?
A ;Qll, I don't exagtly whether I gan or not. I cater from one
"house to another house, like a pedler, canvassing.
Q Do you sell jewelry! A ©No, sir; ogeasionally, if I get
it cheap enough,

They were boxes, were they! A They looked like boxes,

Aud were these separate bundlee wrapped in separate

A Well, the boxee were wranped separately, yes.

And 414 you ever see the contents of them? A No, eir.
7 LT
Never found out what was in them? A No, sir.

Fow, Af I understand you, the same officer grabbed you and

One foot in the gutter?! A Both feet, when I was arrested.

And he grabbed the man with the package with one hand,

-
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Q Handkerohiefe? A Yes, different merchandise that I can
get up in the sales. '

Q To whom do you sell? A Private people, from house so
house, in olub rooms, eto. '

Q Where wae the last place that you made a sale boforo‘your
arrest? A Well, I s0ld along 145th S8treet, some houses there,
445 or 446, and I have sold goods Qll along Broadway to people

that I knew by sight only.

Q TNow, give us the name of any pereon that you sold anys
thing t0 in the month of December, A There is lre. Steiner and

Mre. Levine and ¥re, Cohen.

2 And where is ¥rs. Levine? Is it ¥ise or Iru;? A"lr-;
Levine,

Q Where does she reside? Did you sell to her at her homel
A TWo, eir; I used to meet them in the restaurant, where i g9 in
frequently, and they asked me if I have anything to .oll. and if
I have, I sell it to them,

Q What was the last artlold that you told?’ What was the
gharacter of 1%1 A I eold some walets,

Q@ Is that the last thing you so0ld? A 1 0614 s ome w&lqtp@
Jevelry 1 haven't sold at all.

¢ What was the last article fhst'yvn sold before your
'axrcitt A T s0ld about half & dozen waists that I had.

-

Q@ Wae that the last thing that you sold before your arrest?

A Yes, waiste.
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Q On what day 4id you sell those? A Oh, about the l4sh
or 15th.

Q Four or five days before your arrest? A It wae vﬂﬁ;;z;y.
Friday and Saturday, like. | »

Q What was? A Prior to the 18th,

Q@ No. When was the last sale you made?! A I sold waiste
for the last three days before my arrest, and the last sale was
nadg to lrs. Cohen, whon; husband kept th§ clgar store in Lenox
Avenue, between 116th and 117th Street. :

S IQ it on the dorner? A ©No, it 1s not. I presume it is
A door or so from the oorior, next to the furniture store.
I 80ld her two waists, and I sold to Mre. Fishbein a waiet, and
her daughtor a waist, the same day.

Q  Where did you get thoee walists? A At auction, at a sale
on proadway. ‘

Q Vhat auction? A The Eastern yerchandise Company.

& About three weeks ago -- that is, three weeks before my
arrest. |

Q@ Now, did you do any buoinoou.with any hpuses, lny‘budtn.o.
houses at allt A Well, I ujod to go into a 1o§ of houses, where
they used to put ade in the psper of odds and ends, and if i
didn't like 4t ] didn't buy it:. I went up to the Baratogs Vaist
Company, and they were supposed to olear out 35 dozen waiets,

and 1 was to get an answer by phone as to my prige, tshe price I

offered, and they didn't accept my price, but they wanted
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25 or 50 gents more on the dosen, and I d1du't think it wae

worth while, and I didn't buy them.. And I went to different
goncerns in that lime, and if I couldn't get anything cheap

enough, I didnet buy 1it.

Q Where did you sell?! A To private people, from house %0
-house. I was alwaye pedling for the last five years, in and ous
of tom.

Q Where out of tomn? A ©Norwalk, Connectiout, and other
towne in Connecticut; Cleveland, Bo-ton; Cineinnasy, whorovﬁr I
would desire to go. THNe concern that I bought a.éonsidorlblo lot
of goods from isn't in businees today, Samuel Fischer. I cgould
show by tho; that I paid cash alwaye for goods, and I ioﬁ;;t four
or five hundred dollars at a time,

f Je he dead? A I don't know. I don't knowwhat has

beoome of them, I havenit heard from them. And there was a Nr,
Abrahams also, but I don't»kngw anything about these people now,
but I was away and lossg uighf of them, .

Q When was the last time you were away, out of tomn? 4 1I
oame'back last April, 1 was away January; yebruary and Mareh .
and came back in April,

Q And have you been here ever singe! A Yes, I came back
the early part of yay, 1 heltivo it was, frop Wheeling, Vests Vir- 3
ginia, and I had a promise of business here.:

Q W"ho do you live witht! A My w:lﬁ.'

Q Have you any ohildren? A I have one from my first wife.

%
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I didn't think it was negeseary to mention that, »
Q@ Thie is your second wife?! A Yes, eir. 1 - divoreced,
aix yoar--ugo.
THE COURT: Any other questions?
MR. FIRESTONE: That's all,

THE COURT: The next witnees.

HERMAN St ¢ o N, of 303 Ditmars Avinuo. Brooklyn,

a witness oalled on behalf of the defense, being duly sworn,

tcltiftoq as followse:
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY ¥R. FIRESTONE:

Q What is your buoinuﬁ ¥r. Cohn? A .Oloak-‘ and suits.

Q ,Do' you know Mr. Schafman, the defendans? A Yes, sir,

Q How long have you known him? A About six years.

G Do you know okther"poovlo that know him? 3 !011: not in
business. Friends,. v

Q Friends? A Yes, eir.

Q@ Do you know what his reputation is for truth and veracisy
and honesty amonget his friendes?! , Yes, v v |

Q 78 1t good or bad? A As far as I know it's good.
CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, WEIL:

Mr. Coh'n. you say that you are ui the cloak and suis

business? A Yes, sir. |

Q Have you been in business with this defendant? A "hy,
Just a small buliﬁo-q'. |

Q Have you sold hix anything?! A VWhy, private srade.
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Q Did you sell him anything? . Not exactly to him, but
mme of his friends that he has brought around.

Q I didn't aek you that. I asked you if you had sold him

anything. A RNojsir; not so §i-, »
Q Did you ever eell him anything? A Fo, sir.
Q Now, you say you know some of his friends, Who do you
know that are friende of this defendant?! Give me the nameey
of anyone that you know as a friend of the defendant, A Well, 1
canit just remember them right now, I have known some of the
people that he is associated with in Harlem.

Q Give me the name of one of them, A I can't think of

their names now, because I haven't been there for three or four

yoaro.A

Q@ You haven't seen any of his friends for~t-ovor three years?
A Fo, sir. . ,

Q WVell, you have testified hereAunder oath that you have
discuesed thie man's reputation, and said that he bears a good
reputation for honesty and veracity among his friends, and you
now say that you have no: seen any of his friends for tworor three
yesars. When did you discues hies reputation for honeesy and
vargoify and respectability? A During the time that I came in
gontact with his friends, and with him, and I don't rc;a-b-r even
his name, the nanme of the gentleman,

Q VYhat gentleman? A The defendant's name. I haven's ocllw‘;

him enough for the last two or three yeare.



" Q You don't remember the defendant's name? A Ko, eir.

THE COURT: That will do. You are exoused. That is
sufficient, »hen the witness doesn't even know hie name.

HR; FIRESTONE: But he knows the defendant, nnﬁ.hll
friende, and has seen them.

THE COURT: No. It ie a waste of the Court's tii'\)o
call a witness who does not even know the defendant's nu-;:\'
Te will call another witness.

MR. FIRESTONE: If your Honor please, he say ® that he
knows the man, but he don't remember the defandant'o.ﬁano' ;
at the time, until the matter was called to his attention,
and-l think we have the right to ask him what he nc#nt when
he‘laid he didn't remember the name. |

THE COURT: Well, bring him back.

MR. FIRESTONE: I only want t0 be fair in the matter.
I have nevar seen the man in my life, and I don't know aay;
thing about him. |

THE COURT: That is the trouble. You_nbodld hnv§ seen
hlm before you put him on the stand. Ko lawyer ihould nit
a witnese on the stand unlees he knows what he is going to

’ testify to.
| ' MR. FIRESTONE: But not a charagter witness, I think,
~ THE COURT: Now, proceed.

" REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. PIRESTONE:

0 You know that is mow standing up (indicating the de-
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fendant)? A Yes, sir. ,

Q And do you know his name?! A Yes, eir,

Q@ Abd4, when you said you didn't even know his name, you meant

that you had forgotten his name since you had last seen him?
A Yes.
"BY THE COURT:
Q@ And do you know anyihtng about hiu'fo: the last three

years? A Yea, eir. i |

Q@ You do? A Yes, sir. The gohtlcnan has come up to my
place of buothoo-.' I happened to meet him, And he said hewas
selling cloake and suits, and he asked me whether I had any

jobs occasionally to sell, and I told him yes, samples and @0 on,

etc. And he said, if he ever brouzht a lady u'ouﬁd. a lady {xiud
of hies up to sell hor. anything, would I sell to her, and charge
five or ten dollar® more, and split the difference with h'h. and 1
oaid I would, | . ‘

Q And he was to find someone who wquld ooio up aad pay the
five or ten dollars more than the minufaotﬁrer'a price; 4is that
it, 80 that you could split the difference between you two?‘ |
A Yes, »oir, | .

BY ¥R, FIRESTONE:
Q -But that was five or ten dollars more than tho.lqnutno—

turer's price, wasn't it? A Yes, eir.

MR, FIRESTONE: That is the defeniant's case.
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REBUTTAL!

FWILLIANM H. HARLEGSTONFN, being recalled by the

District Attorney, testified as followse;
DIRYCYT IXAMIRATION BY ¥R. TEIL!

¢ Fow, Mr, Harleston, %#11 you be good enough to tell us
how the package in question was wrapped up?

¥R, PIREBTONE: Just a mowent. ] object to any de-
soription of the package, ae the evidence® is that the
package is in possession of the Police Department, and can
be produced in obm. |
WR. ¥EIL: ' It will be produced.
(Oyor:uled. ELxcept ion,)
EY ¥R. VEIL:

» Wow, please tell me how the package was wrapmi up? A There
were 2ix packeges done up zeﬁperétely, with the neme of ‘the firm
on ther, and where they were adldressed to, md they wéfe wrapped
up altogether in manils paper, and %ied npvtﬂgetbof -= all oix
psckages -~ and you woutntt Lhrow whether S$here were gix or seven
or elight PACKRGED o until thoy were opened, They wﬁre 511‘1n one
particular burdle.

BY THE CQURT:
Q@ With the wrappser arudd thest 4 Yea, air,
BY MR. WEIL1
Q Were they in bu;qu Or in paper, éha individusl packagee?

A JIn $pdiduvidual boxes.
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Q And how many Loxes woio thafo? A Bix bozoo; if I
remember rightly.
C But jon are not sure of that? A lo;_oirz I canyt say
whether there was six or seven.
: Q But, in any event, the individual packagee were nog
~ exposed, and could not be counted exactly, and you couldn't
tell how many there were, until the éutoldl wrapper was removed?
A Yes, sir, |
Q And when you say this package, it was one large package?
A Yes, oir; ;:no large package.
Q ‘low. you were present when the dofenann\ wasplaced

under arrest, weren't you?! A Yes, sir.




1 ‘ i
Q And he was placed under arrest at your == A At my behest,

1 gcaused him to be arrested.

Q Now, just tell the position of the defendant and the man

Lafranc when they ware arrested? A The Aefendant and1 the other L memmaa
were walking =i4e by si1e. The package was next to the wall (ile
lustrating).

0 Fow, wait a minuté, When you say side by side, you have

already eaid thé t no one was separating them?A Yey, they were knooke
ing arms, | ‘ |

Q Or ﬁm-hing arme? We will iay that? A Yee, oir,

2 And the paoksgc was on the left s ide of Lafrano, end he
wae waliing on ths other side of him, ani, wvhen the policeman c_m.'
he tock both men t ogether, arrssted both of them at the same uni '
(11luetrating) . i

Q Did he ?»éve to reaoch Qv'er any other person to take the di-

f endant at the bar into custody?A No, sir, becauss there weren's

very msny reople on 13th Street at t?m‘ttna, .arn'!, if the officer
was here, he would state that,

Q@ wWow, how close was any person to the two jefendants, when
they were arreeted? Was anybody near them? A No, sir, no one at
all,

Q@ About about how far away would vou say the nearest person
was, vhen they were placed under arr2st? A Iwae th§ neareat
person to them, the pol;o.mun and I.

@ And, other than the policeman and yourself, there was no

one between them when they were arrestedlA Wo, eire




Q Or in front of them? A I 41dn't see any one,

O Or in the rear of them? A I didn't look_b.htnﬂ to uo‘

who was in the rear of thems

Q Or, on either side of them? A There wae nobodj there at
alle There were people on the nther aide of the s treet, possibly,
but I wasn't intereeted in those,

- 0 Now, 414 you see the defandante in eonversation at any
time? A Yi-, they were talking all the time that I haid fhom under
obeervation.

0 And you'iaw them go to the box t;gether?A Yes, =ir,

0 And continue togethertA Yes,

Q Until they were arrestedTA Yes,

¥R, FIRFRTONE: Feed we go all over this again,
your Honor.?
¥R, WEIL: It ie rebuttal, if your Honor please,

TF MURT: Noe. I don't think it is negessary to go

over.it again.
CROSS EXAMINATION BY VR, FIRFETONE:
Q Now, 414 you hear them talking together?A I 41dn't hear
the gonversation, but I leoh the men togethers
0 (Question repeated)l Certainly I heard the two mengy

0 Speaking togethertA Yes,

A And you were ten feet away? A Yes, I was ponnih@y ten
feet away, _
@ Why 414 you say that you 1i4n't see them talk? Didn's

you start to say that? A I said that I didn't hear the convers

o ation, That is what I began to say, v
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shest of manilla raper,

i3 3

Q lo'. this peckage wns wrapped up in colored papertA In
manilla paper,

Q In manilla paper? A Yeg,
Q Well, 414 the cord around 1t go two dqyo; or just onoe

around? A I won't swear whether it wae onoe around, or sll around

it, but the cord was around the manilla pap~r, That is what I know,

0 And the pasckage was wrappred up in one large sheet of manilla

paper? A Yes,

Q Are you sure of 1t? A Yes; I am sure it wae one large

o ¥rapped around this package?! A Yes,
Q VNow, listen to me a minute, and sees whether I am -1ctni¢n
in‘ﬁiaii.g you oorreotly, Dida't you say there were iix piﬂtagoc

done up eeparately, and addressed to separate individuals? A There -

ware 8i® pagkages done up separately., ,

0 Addressed to eix A4ifferent individuals, aepanu mautmaﬂ
A Yes, they were addreoled to separate 1ndividunlu.

0 And do you mean to tell the jury that thoag six packages
that were on thie box for the purpose of mailing, addressed to
six 4ifferent individuals, were wrapred Gp in one bundle, with
manilla paper around it?

THE WITNESS: Judge, your Honor.t may say this, the

receiving olerk of the department that they had been sent to

ie here in cours.

VR, FIRESTONT: I objeot to that, andi move to strike that

oute



TET COURT: Yes, strike it out «
BY TUF COURT:
Q He wants to ¥now whether the Manilla paper was nround
the whnle llot, or vhethery they were aoparitoly wrapre 4 up? |
A *he Manilla raper is ~round the whole_lot of them.

BY MR, FIRFSTONE:

Q The individual packages wers addressed to separate pereonss
- Now, 444 you see the addresses?A I saw them at the 'tﬁtion hou se,
when they were taken ocut,
| Q An? were they dddressed to 4ifferent places? A Yen,'thcy
wore addressed to differont‘pladolo,‘
0 And Aifferent dlities? A Yes.
© And all those packages were packed in one‘?ackazc when
it was on the letter box?‘ A Then it was on the letter box,
0 Wrapped up in wanilla pgper?A Yes, sir,
EDIRECT TXAMINATION BY ¥R, WEILL:
D WVae there anj address on the manilla paper®A I aidn't
g2 any adiress on it st all, Those pﬂokage.‘wérc to be sent to
the Post Office. -
Q Vere there nﬁy postaze stamps? A Yee, on the individual
ﬁaokagOI-
Q The postage stamps were on the 1ndlv14ua1 packages?
A Yene .
Q 80 that 1t would be negessary to open the large paocksge teo
gee the addresses on the individual pickcco-? |
(Objeoted to,) -

Q Were there any stamps on the cuter Hanilla paper?
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RECROS® EYAMINATDON BY ¥R, TIRFRTONE:

n Now, then, you say, you aswear, that thare were no postage

stamps on the outeide manilla paper?A Why, certainly nots If there

were any, they would be nddressed to one individual, I am here as
an American ocitigen, and I ar here to tell t.he truth, and that ie
all, and I would do it, if it were my own brother.‘ ‘

MR ﬂI‘Ls Now, if your Honor please, the People rest, with

the exgeption of the package, and I have asent to Police Heade

quarters to have the package brought here, and, if your Honar

will take s recess for a few mimtec;, I think we will have the
package here, ,

THE CAPTAIN: I think the witness is outside, tho( witness
with the peokage, ie ocutside of the court room now, your lﬂtﬁt&‘

THE COURT: Very well. But you should have the propersy inm

any osse that you try in oourt_’beforo you begin thé case,
YR, WEIL: It wns subpoensed with the offlélr. eir, and I
~supposed of gourse it would be here. I am just informed that
the Police Dcpai'tmnt will not 4elivery t hat propergy to g'
one but the polio.inan who ixmd. the arrest, on an order of t“
Court, and the offiocer 1is 6n_oict leave, and, under the oire
cumstances, may I ask your Honor to issue such an orhr.

THE COURT: Very well, And you may have it here on Monday

TOorning.

e Ty M & e e L e R R R N N Rt
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(The court admonishe d the Jury in accordance with Seotion

415 of the Code of Oriminal Procedurs, and adjeurned the mM'

trial of the ofee to Wondey Norning, January l4th, 1918.a% 3P
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